# Central modulation of affective touch, pain, and emotion in humans

Dan-Mikael Ellingsen

Department of Physiology
Institute of Neuroscience and Physiology
Sahlgrenska Academy at University of Gothenburg



UNIVERSITY OF GOTHENBURG

Gothenburg 2014

Cover illustration: "Touch my mind" by Hannah Ellingsen

Central modulation of affective touch, pain, and emotion in humans © Dan-Mikael Ellingsen 2014 dan.mikael.ellingsen@gmail.com

ISBN 978-91-628-9021-6

Printed in Gothenburg, Sweden 2014 Ineko AB

# Central modulation of affective touch, pain, and emotion in humans

#### Dan-Mikael Ellingsen

Department of Physiology, Institute of Neuroscience and Physiology Sahlgrenska Academy at University of Gothenburg Göteborg, Sweden

#### **ABSTRACT**

Hedonic feelings – pleasure and displeasure – strongly motivate human behavior. When well-functioning, hedonic feelings guide adaptive decision-making that promotes survival and well-being. Specialized afferent systems transmit information about the environment that gives rise to somatic pleasure or pain. However, these feelings are also influenced by expectations, learning, and information from other sensory modalities. This thesis investigates how hedonic somatic sensations are shaped by expectations and socially relevant information from other senses in healthy humans. Moreover, we assess the neurobiological systems involved in modulation of hedonic feelings. For instance, we examine the role of the neuropeptide oxytocin in the interplay between visual information of facial emotional expressions and gentle inter-personal touch, which characterizes a range of social encounters.

To navigate in the social world, humans combine available sensory information, such as facial emotional expressions and gentle affective touch. The neuropeptide oxytocin plays an important role in social bond formation, and is thought to be central in affective touch signaling. Using intranasal oxytocin and a crossover design, we assessed the role of this neuropeptide in the interaction between socially relevant tactile and visual information (Paper I). After intranasal oxytocin treatment, gentle inter-personal touch sharpened social impressions of concomitantly presented facial expressions, making smiling faces appear more friendly and attractive, but frowning faces less friendly and attractive. Correspondingly, gentle human touch was rated as most pleasant when paired with a smiling face, but least pleasant when combined with a frowning face. We found no evidence that oxytocin modulated touch perception. Further, we investigated oxytocin effects on sensitivity to others' explicit and implicit (hidden) emotional expressions (Paper II). We found that oxytocin intensified evaluations of explicitly and implicitly expressed emotions, in both angry and happy faces. This was underpinned by oxytocin-induced increase in stimulus-related pupil dilation, which we interpret as an indication of increased attention to these socially relevant stimuli.

The malleability of hedonic feelings is illustrated by placebo effects. whereby the meaning of a medical treatment can provide significant symptom improvement, even when the treatment itself does not contain any ingredients that affect symptomatology. We compared the brain processing involved in placebo improvement of positive (pleasant touch) and negative (pain) hedonic feelings, using functional magnetic resonance imaging (Paper III). Placebo-induced increase in touch pleasantness (hyperhedonia) was underpinned by increased sensory processing, while decrease in pain (analgesia) was underpinned by suppression of sensory processing. Moreover, both placebo hyperhedonia and analgesia were associated with activation of similar circuitry implicated in emotion and valuation. The close correspondence of placebo hyperhedonia and analgesia might reflect an underlying shared mechanism. Recent theorizing suggests that placebo effects may build on a generalized mechanism of reward prediction. In Paper IV, we investigated whether expectation of either hyperhedonia or analgesia alone, would be enough to improve both positive and negative hedonic feelings. Participants were divided into two groups. One viewed a video documentary designed to induce expectation of hyperhedonia only, whereas the other group was led to expect analgesia after a (placebo) treatment. Both groups showed robust placebo hyperhedonia and analgesia, and the magnitudes of these effects were comparable across groups.

The work in this thesis sheds light on how expectations and available cross-sensory information shape hedonic somatic feelings, and how this impacts on social evaluation of others. These findings may contribute to the understanding of how expectations, motivations, and the quality of the patient-clinician encounter impact on hedonic sensations and, in turn, treatment outcome.

**Keywords**: Hedonic, touch, pleasure, pain, placebo effect, emotional expressions, oxytocin, fMRI, psychophysics, pupillometry

**ISBN:** 978-91-628-9021-6

#### LIST OF PAPERS

This thesis is based on the following studies, referred to in the text by their Roman numerals.

- I. **Ellingsen DM**, Wessberg J, Chelnokova O, Olausson H, Laeng B, Leknes S. In touch with your emotions: Oxytocin and touch change social impressions while others' facial expressions can alter touch.

  \*Psychoneuroendocrinology 2014; 39: 11-20.
- II. Leknes S, Wessberg J, Ellingsen DM, Chelnokova O, Olausson H, Laeng B. Oxytocin enhances pupil dilation and sensitivity to 'hidden' emotional expressions. Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience 2013; 8, 741-749.
- III. Ellingsen DM, Wessberg J, Eikemo M, Liljencrantz J, Endestad T, Olausson H, Leknes S. Placebo improves pleasure and pain through opposite modulation of sensory processing.
  Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 2013; 110: 17993-17998.
- IV. Ellingsen DM, Leknes S, Triscoli C, Olausson H, Wessberg J. Expectation of either analgesia or hyperhedonia leads to both.
  Manuscript.



### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ABBREVIATIONS	VI
1 Introduction	1
1.1 Hedonic value of touch	1
1.2 Consequences of affective touch	2
1.3 Oxytocin – the social peptide	3
1.4 The hedonic brain	5
1.5 Subjective utility and hedonic value	8
1.6 Modulation of pleasure and pain by contextual meaning	10
1.7 Placebo modulation of hedonic experience	11
2 SPECIFIC AIMS	13
3 METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS	15
3.1 Ethics	15
3.2 Participants	15
3.3 Summary of the protocols	15
3.3.1 Paper I	15
3.3.2 Paper II	15
3.3.3 Paper III	16
3.3.4 Paper IV	16
3.4 Stimuli	17
3.4.1 Visual stimuli (Paper I and II)	17
3.4.2 Somatosensory stimuli	17
3.5 Oxytocin administration	19
3.5.1 How does intranasal oxytocin affect cognition and behavior?	19
3.6 Measurement and analysis	21
3.6.1 Subjective report of stimuli	21
3.6.2 Subjective report of mood (Paper I and IV)	22
3.6.3 Subjective report of treatment expectations (Paper III and IV)	22
3.6.4 Analysis of subjective reports and questionnaires	22

3.6.5 Functional magnetic resonance imaging (Paper III)
3.6.6 Pupillometry (Paper I and II)
3.7 Design considerations
3.7.1 Paper III
3.7.2 Paper IV
4 RESULTS
4.1 Paper I
4.1.1 Oxytocin and human touch sharpened evaluations of friendlines and attractiveness
4.1.2 Facial expression of others influenced pleasantness of human touch more strongly than machine touch
4.1.3 Oxytocin did not alter touch experience
4.1.4 Human touch produced larger pupil responses to happy expressions, but smaller pupil responses to angry expressions, compared to machine touch
4.2 Paper II
4.2.1 Oxytocin enhanced evaluation of explicitly and implicitly presented angry and happy facial expressions
4.2.2 Sensitivity to differences in subtle expressions at baseline predicted oxytocin-enhanced emotional sensitivity
4.2.3 Oxytocin enhanced stimulus-induced pupil dilation
4.3 Paper III
4.3.1 Expectations of treatment benefit
4.3.2 Placebo manipulation induced hyperhedonia and analgesia 32
4.3.3 Opposite effects on pleasant and painful touch processing in sensory circuitry
4.3.4 Placebo hyperhedonia and analgesia recruited similar emotion appraisal circuitry
4.3.5 Placebo Responses Correlated with Increases in Functiona Connectivity Within Emotion Appraisal Circuitry
4.3.6 Placebo-induced functional coupling correlated with opposite modulation of sensory processing during placebo hyperhedonia and analgesia

4.4 Paper IV	34
4.4.1 Expectation of treatment benefit	34
4.4.2 Suggestion of analgesia induced hyperhedonia, and v	vice versa 35
5 DISCUSSION	37
5.1 Interactions between human inter-individual touch, of social evaluations of others	•
5.2 Oxytocin increases sensitivity to others' subtle and expl expressions	
5.3 Subjective utility and its prediction	40
5.4 Placebo improvement of hedonic feelings	41
5.5 Clinical perspectives	43
6 CONCLUSIONS	45
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	46
References	49

#### **ABBREVIATIONS**

ANA Analgesia suggestion

ACC Anterior cingulate cortex

AVP Arginine Vasopressin

BBB Blood-brain barrier

BOLD Blood-oxygen level-dependent

CSF Cerebrospinal fluid

CT Unmyelinated low-threshold mechanoreceptor

fMRI Functional magnetic resonance imaging

HYP Hyperhedonia suggestion

LC Locus Coeruleus

NAc Nucleus accumbens

OFC Orbitofrontal cortex

PAG Periaqueductal gray

pINS Posterior insula

RVM Rostroventral medulla

SI Primary somatosensory area

SII Secondary somatosensory area

VAS Visual analogue scale

vmPFC Ventromedial prefrontal cortex

VTA Ventral tegmental area

#### 1 INTRODUCTION

Hedonic feelings – pleasure and displeasure – are at the heart of human lives. While much of our behavior is geared towards seeking pleasant experiences over both the short and long run, we will also work to avoid aversive or painful experiences. The hedonic valuation of sensation helps guide us towards which behaviors to engage in and which behaviors to avoid, thus rendering hedonic processing essential for survival of both the individual and the species. Indeed, the neurobiological systems implicated in hedonic processing are central to functioning that is fundamental for survival and the maintenance of well-being, e.g. defense, maintenance of energy and nutritional supplies, fluid balance, thermoregulation, and reproduction (LeDoux, 2012, Richard et al., 2013). Pleasure or displeasure are rarely standalone sensations in their own right – they are usually "about" something - and can be conceptualized as the "hedonic gloss" that is painted onto sensations (Frijda, 2010, Kringelbach, 2010, Kringelbach and Berridge, 2010). Adaptive behavior can be completely different depending on, for example, the context and concurrent homeostatic state, and the hedonic value of a stimulus is consequently malleable. While the taste of chocolate can evoke intense feelings of pleasure, the very same stimulus can change its value and become less pleasurable after having eaten too much (Small et al., 2001). Similarly, the same sensual caress can be enchanting or repulsive, depending on the perceived identity of the toucher (Gazzola et al., 2012). This thesis investigates how hedonic somatic sensations are shaped by expectations (**Paper III and IV**) and socially relevant information from other senses (Paper I). Moreover, we probe the role of the neuropeptide oxytocin in the interplay between visual information of facial emotional expressions (Paper II) and gentle inter-personal touch (Paper I), which characterizes a range of social encounters.

#### 1.1 Hedonic value of touch

Somatic sensations from the skin often signal that something is in physical contact with our body. Being able to quickly identify what this is, and to determine whether it is a welcome stimulus or a (potential) threat to our health is crucial for survival and well-being. Pain, for example, warns us of potential and/or actual tissue damage, which may call for immediate action to withdraw from or remove the painful stimulus.

We are equipped with a somatosensory afferent system that accurately informs us about the physical characteristics of our environment. Such sensory-discriminative signals are transmitted through myelinated low-threshold mechanoreceptive (Aβ) afferents (Abraira and Ginty, 2013). While we use our skin to explore our immediate environment, we also use it to communicate with others. Although the communicative and affective roles of touch are less studied than the more sensory-discriminative aspects, this has lately received increased attention (Hertenstein et al., 2009, Morrison et al., 2010). Infant-parent touch has important consequences for development (Hertenstein and Campos, 2001, Muir, 2002, Fairhurst et al., 2014, McGlone et al., in press), and the quantity and quality of touch observed between romantic couples has been reported to closely reflect self-reported intimacy and happiness of their relationships (Beier and Sternberg, 1977, Heslin and Boss, 1980).

Lately, an afferent system of unmyelinated mechanoreceptive afferents with very low thresholds (C-tactile, or CT) has been explored in humans (Nordin, 1990, Vallbo et al., 1993, Vallbo et al., 1999, Wessberg et al., 2003). These afferents respond vigorously to caress-like slowly stroking touch, preferably delivered at skin temperature (32°C) (Ackerley et al., 2014), and their firing correlates with pleasantness ratings. Their response properties are therefore different than the myelinated (AB) fibers, which are better suited for coding discriminatory tactile information (Löken et al., 2009). Functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) studies in patients with selective loss of myelinated (AB) afferents, but with intact CT function, show that CTmediated light touch elicits activation of the posterior insular cortex (Olausson et al., 2002, Bjornsdotter et al., 2009). Moreover, the patients report a weak and poorly localized sensation of pleasant touch to this stimulation (Olausson et al., 2008). Thus, evidence suggest that CTs play a fundamental role in providing information about the *pleasantness* of touch, with implications for affiliative behavior (McGlone et al., in press).

#### 1.2 Consequences of affective touch

Being touched by another human being can evoke powerful emotions. People are remarkably accurate in detecting a wide range of emotional messages, even when these are communicated exclusively through touch (Hertenstein et al., 2006a). Positive consequences of interpersonal touch on social behavior have been demonstrated by a range of naturalistic studies. In one study, restaurant diners tipped more if the waitress had casually touched them when returning their change (Crusco and Wetzel, 1984). In another study, people

were more satisfied with a library visit if the librarian had casually touched their hand (Fisher et al., 1976). Similar studies report that when casually touched, people are more likely to return money left in a public phone (Kleinke, 1977), spend money in a shop (Hornik, 1992), or give away cigarettes (Joule and Gueguen, 2007). In most such studies however, touch formed part of an affectively congruent situation. Less is known about the effects and appraisal of touch in contexts where other available information is affectively incongruent, such as being casually touched by someone expressing anger. Appraisal of social situations relies on a combination of all available information from the senses, along with prior knowledge and expectations. According to the feelings-as-information view, affective information is also a powerful factor in appraisal of social and non-social situations, even when the affect is elicited by unrelated or incongruent events (Schwarz and Clore, 1983, 2007). For instance, one study showed that subliminally priming participants with smiling faces made them drink more fruit juice, compared to people primed with frowning faces (Winkielman et al., 2005). Paper I investigates how human gentle touch influences impressions of others with positive (smiling) or negative (frowning) emotional expressions, and in turn, how others' emotional expressions affects hedonic touch experience.

#### 1.3 Oxytocin - the social peptide

The neuropeptide oxytocin plays an important role in a range of emotional and social behavior in humans and animals (Campbell, 2008, Bartz et al., 2011, Olff et al., 2013). An extensive body of animal research underlines the importance of oxytocin for establishing and maintaining social bonds (Feldman, 2012). Evidence from research in humans and rodents suggest that oxytocin may promote approach behavior through selective increases in parasympathetic activity (Gamer and Buchel, 2012, Kemp et al., 2012, Quintana et al., 2013) and antinociception (Uvnas-Moberg et al., 1993, Yang, 1994, Petersson et al., 1996, Lund et al., 2002), and thereby foster social affiliation. Oxytocin has been proposed to play a key role in social grooming behavior in nonhuman primates (Pedersen et al., 1988, Francis et al., 2000), and peripheral oxytocin release has been observed in response to stroking touch in dogs and rodents (Lund et al., 2002, Odendaal and Meintjes, 2003). Human studies have reported that a high frequency of physical contact with a partner predicts elevated oxytocin plasma levels (Light et al., 2005). Moreover, people given a massage are more trusting in a subsequent social interaction (trust game), an effect that covaries with plasma oxytocin levels (Morhenn et al., 2012). Furthermore, peripheral levels of oxytocin are

positively associated with parental touch of infants. Specifically, high plasma oxytocin predicts affectionate touch in mothers, and stimulatory touch in fathers (Feldman, 2012). Although these studies suggest an involvement of oxytocin in affiliative touch, its specific role in humans is far from clear. Some studies have found peripheral oxytocin release in response to touch (Light et al., 2000, Odendaal and Meintjes, 2003, Light et al., 2005, Holt-Lunstad et al., 2008), while others have found no effect (Turner et al., 1999, Heinrichs et al., 2001, Wikstrom et al., 2003, Grewen et al., 2005, Ditzen et al., 2007). These apparent discrepancies may reflect important influences of context and individual differences (Bartz et al., 2011). For example in rats, oxytocin is involved in both affiliative and aggressive approach behavior, depending on the context (Campbell, 2008). The appraised meaning of touch is likely derived largely from other sensory signals, such as visual information of the toucher's face or the tone of her/his voice. Consequently, adaptive responses should be dramatically different depending on whether the toucher appears friendly or threatening. In Paper I we investigated the reciprocal influence of gentle human touch and happy/frowning faces on the evaluation of these stimuli, and assessed the role of oxytocin in these interactions.

In recent years, oxytocin's role in social cognition and behavior has been assessed in experimental studies in humans, mostly through the use of an intranasal oxytocin agonist. Early studies reported advantageous "prosocial" effects of intranasal oxytocin on increasing trust (Kosfeld et al., 2005), generosity (Zak et al., 2007), and positive communication during conflicts (Ditzen et al., 2009), and decreasing social stress and anxiety (Heinrichs et al., 2003). However, when later studies employed experimental designs that better allowed for the assessment of less virtuous emotions or attitudes, intranasal oxytocin reportedly increased feelings of envy and schadenfreude (Shamay-Tsoory et al., 2009), in-group conformity (Stallen et al., 2012) and aggression towards strangers in out-groups (De Dreu et al., 2011, Shalvi and De Dreu, 2014). A recent study even reported that oxytocin *increased* anxiety during a psychotherapy session with males suffering from major depression, contrary to the reported anxiolytic effects of oxytocin (MacDonald et al., 2013).

With observations that oxytocin increased social attention (Ellenbogen et al., 2012, Gamer and Buchel, 2012), gaze to the eye region of pictures of faces, and the ability to "read" others emotions (Domes et al., 2007, Bartz et al., 2010, Van IJzendoorn and Bakermans-Kranenburg, 2012), a more nuanced picture emerged, suggesting that oxytocin mediates the salience of socially relevant cues more broadly (Shamay-Tsoory et al., 2009), potentially

reflecting a role of oxytocin in promoting approach-related social behavior, while inhibiting withdrawal-related behavior potentially through promoting social approach (Kemp and Guastella, 2010, 2011). This is consistent with the often dramatic effects of oxytocin in non-human animals (Insel and Young, 2001, Campbell, 2008). For instance, oxytocin enhances nurturing and reduces maternal aggression towards rat pups. At the same time, it also enhances maternal aggression towards potential threats (Insel and Young, 2001, Campbell, 2008). In Paper II we investigated the role of oxytocin in the evaluation of two facial expressions related to prosocial and aggressive behavior in humans, happiness and anger. Further, we investigated how oxytocin influenced the sensitivity to these expressions when these emotional cues were displayed too subtly to be explicitly recognized (Laeng et al., 2010). The effect of oxytocin on emotion recognition is often subject to individual variability, and some studies suggest that oxytocin processing is disrupted in psychiatric disorders characterized by deficits in emotional and social functioning such as autism spectrum disorders (Insel et al., 1999, Wu et al., 2005, Jacob et al., 2007, Rodrigues et al., 2009, but see Tansey et al., 2010). When assessing emotions recognition in images of eyes expressing complex emotions such as amusement or skepticism, oxytocin's enhancement of task performance has been reported for both more difficult (Domes et al., 2007) and 'easy' items (Guastella et al., 2010). Interestingly, since the study populations differed in social competence, the 'easy' items in the study by Guastella et al. and the 'difficult' items used by Domes et al. may have represented a comparable challenge to their respective study populations (high-functioning autists vs. healthy volunteers). Moreover, Bartz et al. (2010) demonstrated that oxytocin's effects on empathic accuracy in healthy males were proportional to their level of autistic traits, as assessed by the Autism Spectrum Quotient (AQ). In Paper II, we investigated, in a group of healthy volunteers, whether the influence of oxytocin on the appraisal of subtle expressions of happiness and anger depended on their ability to detect these emotional cues at baseline.

#### 1.4 The hedonic brain

How are hedonic feelings of pleasure and aversion created in the brain? For many years, the mesolimbic dopaminergic system, consisting of the ventral tegmentum, amygdala, and ventral striatum, was assumed to be responsible for pleasure processing (Salamone and Correa, 2012). This idea grew from observations that rodents with microelectrode implants in mesolimbic locations (e.g. nucleus accumbens, NAc) would self-stimulate to obtain electrical stimulation from the microelectrode (Olds and Milner, 1954,

Valenstein et al., 1970, Shizgal et al., 2001). When given the ability to turn on the current themselves by pulling a lever, they would obsessively pull the lever – sometimes up to 2000 times per hour (Olds, 1956). Some similar experiments were even performed in human patients with mental illnesses. These patients engaged in "lever pressing", sometimes obsessively, which released electrical pulses from electrode implants in various mesolimbic locations (Heath, 1972, Portenoy et al., 1986). However, it is not clear whether they actually enjoyed these pulses, or if their behavior involved excessive wanting without much liking (Berridge and Kringelbach, 2008, Green et al., 2010, Smith, 2010, Kringelbach and Berridge, 2012).

The blockade of dopaminergic signaling typically disrupts reward-directed and consummatory behaviors in rodents (Berridge and Robinson, 1998, Schultz, 2002). Extensive destruction of dopaminergic neurons can completely abolish a rat's interest in food, to the extent that they will starve to death unless artificially fed (Berridge and Robinson, 1998). In humans, a wide range of reward-related activities has been associated with dopamine signaling (Egerton et al., 2009), e.g. anticipation and emotional reactions to pleasurable music, presentation of cocaine, drug-associated stimuli, video games, and monetary rewards (Breiter et al., 1997, Volkow et al., 1997, Koepp et al., 1998, Scott et al., 2007, Salimpoor et al., 2011)

These findings lead to the widespread idea of dopamine as a "common neural currency" for pleasant rewards (Schultz, 2002). However, while manipulations of dopaminergic signaling or microinjections of dopamine into different parts of this "reward network" often increase how much the animal would work to obtain a reward ('wanting'), it does little to change the hedonic impact of the reward – i.e. how much an animal lick its lips when consuming the sucrose ('liking'). In contrast, microinjections of opioids (and certain other neurochemicals) into discrete locations in ventral pallidum and the rostral part of the NAc enhance the intensity of actual 'liking' (Pecina and Berridge, 2005). The "hedonic hotspots", where microinjections of opioids increase 'liking' are very small in size compared to locations where opioid or dopamine microinjections increase 'wanting' responses. The hotspots correspond to <10% of the accumbens shell (about 1 mm<sup>3</sup> in rodents and 10 mm<sup>3</sup> in humans, if proportional) and the ventral pallidum.

Apart from the circuitry that has been found to cause pleasure in animal experiments, there are a number of cortical and subcortical regions that are implicated in the processing of pleasure. Functional neuroimaging in humans suggest that orbitofrontal, insular and ventromedial prefrontal cortices (vmPFC), as well as the amygdala, periaqueductal grey (PAG), and ventral

tegmental area (VTA), play important roles in reward processing. Activity in this circuitry often correlates with self-reported pleasure (Rolls et al., 2003, Kringelbach, 2005, Grabenhorst et al., 2008). The vmPFC constitute a set of interconnected regions that may integrate information from episodic memory, sensory events, social cognition and current bodily state to construct affective meaning (Roy et al., 2012) It has reciprocal projections to numerous cortical, limbic and midbrain structures, and is a central node in the resting default network (Gusnard et al., 2001, Greicius et al., 2003). Moreover, as we will see below, the vmPFC and anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) play important roles in placebo responses.

Although these cortical regions appear to code hedonic value, it is possible that these regions are not necessary for experiencing pleasure. Thousands of human patients received prefrontal lobotomy in the 1950s with massive damage to the ACC and OFC. However, in spite of clear deficits in decision making and dramatic personality changes, these patients did not seem to lose the capacity for hedonic feelings, and continued to live affective lives (Valenstein, 1986, Damasio, 2000). Further, case reports suggest that capacity for basic affective responses, such as expressions of food liking, may be relatively intact in patients with insular or prefrontal damage (Shewmon et al., 1999, Starr et al., 2009, Damasio et al., 2012). Together, these cases suggest that although playing important roles in the hedonic valuation, cortical nodes of hedonic processing are not necessary for hedonic experience.

Pleasure and pain are often regarded as opposites – while pleasure is something we actively seek, pain is usually something we work to avoid. Physical pain is a multifaceted phenomenon, involving sensory-discriminative aspects, motor responses, motivational processes and attention. Nevertheless, the hedonic displeasure, the suffering, is what often comes to mind when thinking about pain. This is reflected by the definition of pain by the International Society for the Study of Pain (IASP) – "an unpleasant sensory and emotional experience associated with actual or potential tissue damage or described in terms of such damage" (Merksey and Bogduk, 1994)

Human fMRI studies of pain report activations of a range of brain regions in response to experimental pain stimuli, including the thalamus, primary and secondary somatosensory areas, insula, dorsal ACC, prefrontal cortex, amygdala and brainstem structures (Tracey and Mantyh, 2007). Some functional neuroimaging studies have reported a segregation of brain systems that process the affective or hedonic aspects of physical pain and those that

process the sensory-discriminatory aspects (Rainville et al., 1997, Kulkarni et al., 2005, Auvray et al., 2010). Importantly, while these structures all play important roles in pain processing, they are not specific to pain, but are also involved in other processing, e.g. non-painful sensations (Mouraux et al., 2011, Iannetti et al., 2013). Nevertheless, by using information in fine-grained spatio-temporal patterns of fMRI activations within this "pain-responsive" circuitry, recent endeavors have been able to accurately differentiate processing of painful versus non-painful stimuli (Liang et al., 2013).

Are there "hot-spots" for pain, similar to those of pleasant stimuli? In rodents, AMPA-blocking or GABA-stimulating microinjection within the NAc shell can produce a range of positive and negative affective responses depending on location, resembling an "affective keyboard" (Berridge and Kringelbach, 2013). While microinjections in rostral locations generate eating responses in the animals, injections of the same drug in more caudal locations instead induces displays of disgust or fearful behavior (Richard et al., 2013). A similar negative-to-positive affective "gradient" has been suggested for the orbitofrontal cortex, along the medio-lateral axis, based on human fMRI studies reporting representations of positive hedonic feelings more medially and negative hedonics more laterally (Kringelbach, 2005). While these studies do not address pain specifically, the findings may point more generally to how core pleasure and displeasure are generated, which may have implications for the unpleasantness, or suffering, aspect of pain. It is therefore interesting to note the extensive spatial overlap in brain areas that process pain and reward/pleasure in humans and animals, especially in the OFC, vmPFC, NAc, ventral pallidum, and amygdala (Leknes and Tracey, 2008).

#### 1.5 Subjective utility and hedonic value

While sensory afferent systems transmit crucial "bottom-up" information that gives rise to affective sensations, the hedonic impact is almost always shaped by top-down factors. Mood, attention, expectations, concurrent information from other senses, previous experience, and concurrent motivational state are examples of factors that influence the hedonic value of a stimulus. A common denominator in these influences is that the subjective utility, or concurrent usefulness, of a stimulus dictates its hedonic value (i.e. pleasantness or unpleasantness), rather that the inherent properties of the stimulus (Cabanac, 1971, Leknes and Tracey, 2008). Even stimuli that seem inherently positive, like sweet taste, can become hedonically "flipped".

Eating a delicious chocolate can be intensely pleasant if you are hungry for chocolate. Yet the delight turns to disgust if you keep eating it beyond satiety, although the sensory stimulus remains the same (Small et al., 2001). Similarly, while a hot bath is likely very pleasant if you just came in freezing from a winter storm, you may prefer an invigorating cold shower if you are boiling in the midst of a heat wave. Introducing the concept of alliesthesia, Cabanac (1971) postulated that stimuli which serve to move the organism towards physiological or psychological homeostasis should be perceived as pleasant, while stimuli that serve to move the organism out of homeostasis should be perceived as unpleasant or painful. For example, relief from pain is pleasant (Leknes et al., 2008, Leknes et al., 2011), and can increase the ability to enjoy other pleasures (Bastian et al., 2014). Similarly, food rewards are more pleasurable when they relieve a hunger state (Kringelbach et al., 2003). Therefore, by stimulating behavior that restores homeostatic balance, hedonic feelings are closely linked with the optimization of behavior (O'Reilly et al., 2013).

These principles have been employed to understand why pain is subject to considerable intra-individual variability across different situations. Physical pain is generally associated with displeasure and suffering, and is typically something an individual will work to avoid. The motivation-decision model of pain, as proposed by Fields (Fields, 2006, 2007), describes brain mechanisms that enhance or reduce the hedonic impact of events based on their relative importance at a given time. The model was initially put forward to explain modulation of pain, but the basic idea holds for all events that fall within a reward-punishment continuum. Fields postulates that – as a result of an unconscious decision-making process – any concurrent or impending event that is more important for the individual than a pain stimulus should suppress the hedonic impact of this pain. The event of superior importance may for instance be a greater threat or a potential reward. Likewise, anything judged as more important that an impending reward – for example a threat or a bigger reward – should suppress the hedonic impact and motivation for this reward. A central question is how the brain modulates this hedonic impact. Does it target the neural systems that generate pleasure or displeasure, e.g. hedonic hot and cold spots, or does it also modulate ascending sensory information that give rise to pleasure or displeasure? If so, at which levels does this modulation take place? Evidence from different fields indicates that top-down influences can modulate sensory signals at early stages of sensory processing. Focused auditory attention in humans can modulate signaling in the auditory sensory cortex as early as 20 ms poststimulus (Woldorff et al., 1993). Moreover, visual spatial attention can modulate pre-cortical signals in the lateral geniculate nucleus, the first relay between the retina and the cortex (McAlonan et al., 2008). It is well-documented that ascending nociceptive neurons in the spinal dorsal horn are modulated by the brain (Wall, 1967, Woolf, 2011). The PAG in the midbrain controls incoming nociceptive signals indirectly through the rostroventral medulla (RVM) (Millan, 2002, Fields, 2004). Neurons in the RVM project to the spinal dorsal horn, with inhibitory or excitatory effects on nociceptive transmission (Urban and Gebhart, 1999, Neubert et al., 2004). The PAG receives direct input from the limbic structures amygdala and ventral striatum, and from the prefrontal cortex, constituting a pathway by which affective or cognitive information can influence ascending sensory information already at the spinal dorsal horn (Fields, 2004). There is also electrophysiological evidence in rodents that corticofugal projections, originating from the primary somatosensory area (SI), modulate innocuous touch signals in the cuneate and gracile nuclei of the dorsal column, the earliest relay stages for many low-threshold mechanoreceptive afferents (Nunez and Malmierca, 2007). Further, branches of low-threshold mechanoreceptors synapse at the segmental level in the spinal dorsal horn, but it is not known if central cognitive or affective information can alter touch processing at this level (Abraira and Ginty, 2013)

# 1.6 Modulation of pleasure and pain by contextual meaning

Hedonic experience is modulated by context, expectations, attention, arousal, and mood. A range of neuroimaging studies in humans show that such top-down modulation of hedonic sensations can alter widespread sensory processing in the brain (Small et al., 2001, Wager et al., 2004, de Araujo et al., 2005, Petrovic et al., 2005, Nitschke et al., 2006, Tracey and Mantyh, 2007, Berna et al., 2010, Knudsen et al., 2011, Woods et al., 2011, Gazzola et al., 2012, Amanzio et al., 2013).

A particularly useful experimental model for probing the psychological modulation of pain, but also hedonic value in general, is placebo responses. The term "placebo" is derived from the Latin stem "placebit" ("it will please"), and placebo responses refer to positive treatment outcomes that are not caused by the physical properties of the treatment, but by the meaning ascribed to it. When people expect a placebo treatment to have analgesic effects, they often report reduced pain, which is accompanied by widespread reductions of somatosensory (pain) processing in thalamus, insula, primary and secondary somatosensory areas, and dorsal ACC (Eippert et al., 2009a, Lu et al., 2010, Amanzio et al., 2013). Moreover, recent studies indicate that the expectation of treatment-induced pain relief, or pain worsening, can alter

incoming nociceptive signals in the spinal cord (Matre et al., 2006, Eippert et al., 2009b, Geuter and Buchel, 2013), consistent with the idea that cognition and expectation can activate the descending pain modulatory circuit (Fields, 2004, Eippert et al., 2009a). These placebo and nocebo studies indicate that psychological processes, in this case the expectation of treatment benefit, are able to modulate sensory information along the entire sensory neural "axis" stretching from coupling stations in the spinal dorsal horn to sensory circuitry in the brain, resulting in a reduced or amplified pain experience, respectively. Such modulation is somewhat less studied for non-nociceptive sensory processing or positive hedonic experiences. If boosting the pleasure of a pleasant sensation (hyperhedonia) works in a corresponding manner, we would expect the sensory activity of this appetitive stimulus instead to be increased. Several human neuroimaging studies have investigated expectancy- or satiety-induced changes in taste pleasantness. Most of these studies find that changes in pleasantness are underpinned by altered orbitofrontal activation (O'Doherty et al., 2000, Kringelbach et al., 2003, Grabenhorst et al., 2008, Plassmann et al., 2008), and some also find modulation of the primary gustatory cortex in the mid-insula (Nitschke et al., 2006, Woods et al., 2011). In **Paper III**, we compared the brain processing mediating the placebo improvement of negative (pain) and positive (pleasant touch) hedonic somatic sensations, using functional MRI. Specifically, we investigated whether placebo improvement of pleasant touch, like pain, is underpinned by modulation of somatosensory processing.

# 1.7 Placebo modulation of hedonic experience

Placebo analgesia, and placebo responses in general, have been theorized to build on a generalized mechanism of reward prediction, whereby brain valuation systems suppress pain signals when an impending treatment is believed to provide symptom improvement, e.g. pain relief (Fields, 2004, Petrovic et al., 2005, de la Fuente-Fernandez, 2009). This is supported by a growing literature showing the involvement of neural circuits implicated in reward and valuation processing (Scott et al., 2007, Wager et al., 2007, Scott et al., 2008, Schweinhardt et al., 2009, Amanzio et al., 2013). During placebo analgesia, activity in the ventromedial PFC, OFC, ventral striatum, amygdala and the midbrain, is increased, and is thought to be responsible for the suppression of pain. This modulatory network is dependent on opioid processing, since administration of the opioid receptor antagonist naloxone can attenuate both the reduced pain reports (Levine et al., 1978, Amanzio and Benedetti, 1999) and the reduction in somatosensory processing (Eippert et

al., 2009a). The modulatory network responsible for placebo analgesia may play a more general role in the expectancy-induced modulation of hedonic sensations. Petrovic and colleagues (2005) used a conditioning paradigm, whereby participants were shown threatening images before and after administration of the anxiolytic drug midozalam. This drug robustly reduced self-reported unpleasantness from viewing the images. In a subsequent session, participants who were given a placebo labeled as midozalam, reported reductions in unpleasantness comparable to the active substance. Furthermore, the placebo improvement was underpinned by increased fMRI activation in ventral striatum, rostral ACC and mid-lateral OFC, but suppressed visual cortex responses to the aversive images. In line with the close correspondence between processing of pleasure and pain (Leknes and Tracey, 2008, Fields, 2011), we investigated whether similar modulatory circuitry underpins expectancy-induced improvement of negative (painful) and positive (pleasant) feelings (Paper III).

As predicted by the motivation-decision model, motivational states modify the hedonic impact of sensory events (Fields, 2004, Fields, 2006). For example, rats that expect to receive highly palatable chocolate treats when standing on a hot plate endure twice as much pain compared to rats that expect to receive only regular laboratory food (Dum and Herz, 1984). Similarly, humans endure more experimental ischemic pain if they believe the pain stimulation has therapeutic effects (Benedetti et al., 2013). In the context of medical treatment, it is possible that the expectation of treatmentinduced improvements may induce a shift in a "motivational state" that affects both negative and positive hedonic feelings (Fields, 2004, Fields, 2006). Specifically, if the importance of pain is reduced, more focus can be put on other important activities, like reward seeking. Vice versa, if the hedonic impact of a pleasant event is increased, concurrent pain signals may be rendered less important, or threatening, reminiscent of studies showing that pleasant stimuli can induce analgesia (Forsberg et al., 1987, Villemure et al., 2003, Kenntner-Mabiala and Pauli, 2005, Reboucas et al., 2005, Roy et al., 2008). We investigated whether the expectation of improvement of either pleasant or painful touch specifically modulates the targeted sensory experience (pain or pleasant touch), or if such positive expectations cause a general shift in motivational state that influences both positive and negative hedonic feelings (Paper IV).

#### **2 SPECIFIC AIMS**

Hedonic somatic feelings (e.g. pleasant touch and physical pain) serve to guide us towards adaptive behavior. While specialized afferent systems transmit information about the environment that give rise to somatic pleasure or pain, these sensations are heavily influenced by expectation, learning, and social information from other sensory modalities. The following specific questions were addressed:

**Paper I:** How does interpersonal touch alter social impressions of others, and vice versa, how does viewing others' facial expressions affect the hedonic appraisal of touch? Furthermore, is oxytocin involved in these interactions?

**Paper II:** What is the role of oxytocin in the evaluation of others' subtle and explicit emotional expressions?

**Paper III:** Does placebo improvement of pleasant touch involve upregulation of touch signaling in central somatosensory circuitry, akin to suppression of pain signaling in placebo analgesia? Moreover, does placebo improvement of pleasure and pain rely on the activation of a common modulatory brain network?

**Paper IV:** Can the expectation of improved pleasure induce analgesia, and can the expectation of pain relief induce hyperhedonia?

# 3 METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS

#### 3.1 Ethics

The studies were approved by the regional ethics committees at the University of Oslo (**Paper I-III**) and the University of Gothenburg (**Paper III and IV**). The studies were performed in line with the declaration of Helsinki (1996), and written informed consent was obtained from all participants.

#### 3.2 Participants

All participants were self-described healthy volunteers, and were recruited through advertisements (at the campuses of the University of Oslo (**Paper I-III**) and the University of Gothenburg (**Paper III and IV**). All participants received monetary reimbursement in accordance with the ethical approvals.

#### 3.3 Summary of the protocols

#### 3.3.1 Paper I

To investigate how oxytocin and gentle inter-individual touch affect social impressions of others, and how others' facial expressions and oxytocin affect touch experience, we conducted a placebo-controlled crossover study using intranasal oxytocin. Forty healthy volunteers viewed images of different facial expressions along with concomitant gentle human touch or control machine touch, while pupil diameter was monitored. After each stimulus pair, participants rated the perceived friendliness and attractiveness of the faces, perceived facial expression, or pleasantness and intensity of the touch. Thirty minutes before the experimental protocol, the participants self-administered either intranasal oxytocin or a saline solution.

#### 3.3.2 Paper II

In this study we investigated the effects of intranasal oxytocin treatment on the evaluation of explicit and 'hidden' emotional facial expressions and related the results to individual differences in sensitivity to others' subtle expressions of anger and happiness. Since **Paper I** and **Paper II** deal with separate data derived from the same data collection, the experimental protocol was identical to that of **Paper I**.

#### 3.3.3 Paper III

To compare the brain processing of placebo hyperhedonia and placebo analgesia, we conducted a crossover study using functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI). Thirty healthy participants received gentle brush strokes, moderately pleasant warmth stimuli, and moderately painful heat stimuli on two separate days. These stimuli were applied on the left arm for 10 seconds in a pseudorandomized order. In the placebo session, participants self-administered a saline nasal spray prior to the experimental protocol. They were informed that the nasal spray could contain oxytocin, and could thereby: i) increase the pleasantness of stroking and ii) warm touch, and iii) reduce the unpleasantness of painful touch. To strengthen the participants' expectation of the effects of the nasal spray, they were shown a short documentary summarizing scientific findings of such oxytocin effects. The control session was identical to the placebo session except that there was no nasal spray administration. Session order was counterbalanced, and the experimenter who administered the tactile stimuli was blinded to whether it was the placebo or the control session.

#### 3.3.4 Paper IV

We further developed the protocol from **Paper III** to investigate whether suggestion of treatment benefit on *either* touch pleasantness *or* pain unpleasantness by itself can bring about placebo improvement of both pleasure (hyperhedonia) and pain (analgesia). Using a crossover design, 47 healthy volunteers received gentle brush strokes and moderately painful heat on two separate days. In the placebo session, participants self-administered a saline nasal spray suggested to either (1) improve the pleasantness of touch (HYP group) or (2) reduce pain unpleasantness (ANA group). Next, they rated pleasantness/unpleasantness and sensory intensity of gentle stroking touch and moderate heat pain. The control session was identical except that there was no nasal spray administration. Session order was counterbalanced, and the experimenter who administered the stimuli was blinded to whether it was the placebo or the control session.

#### 3.4 Stimuli

#### 3.4.1 Visual stimuli (Paper I and II)

The visual stimuli used in **Paper I and II** consisted of a total of 200 images. depicting 20 males and 20 females with the following five facial expressions: explicitly angry, implicitly angry, neutral, implicitly happy and explicitly happy. First, we chose 120 images, displaying angry, neutral and happy expressions, from the Karolinska Directed Emotional Faces database (Lundqvist et al., 1998, Calvo and Lundqvist, 2008). Then we created two implicitly emotional images of each face (happy-neutral and angry-neutral), as described by Laeng et al. (Laeng et al., 2010). Images of happy and angry faces were processed through a spatial low-pass filter, keeping only frequencies of 1-6 cycles/image. Images of neutral faces were high-pass filtered, keeping frequencies above 6 cycles/image, and overlaid onto the corresponding low-pass filtered images of angry and happy faces. One hundred unique images were presented in each session. The order of presentation was pseudo-randomized (see Paper II, methods, for details). Since pupil size is affected by ambient luminance, the background section of each image was altered to obtain the same net luminance. The images (11 x 11 cm) were presented on a computer monitor placed 104 cm in front of the participant, yielding a visual angle of 6°, as used in (Laeng et al., 2010).

#### 3.4.2 Somatosensory stimuli

In **Paper I and II**, we investigated how interpersonal touch perception interacts with visual images of others. We therefore applied gentle touch from another human, compared to an intensity-matched vibratory control stimulus from a machine. In order to investigate placebo improvement of positive and negative hedonics, we used gentle stroking touch applied with a paintbrush (**Paper III and IV**), moderate warm touch (**Paper III**), and moderate heat pain (**Paper III and IV**).

#### Human touch and machine touch (Paper I and II)

Human touch consisted of 3 s duration soft strokes with a velocity of 5 cm/s, a stimulus known to be optimal in activating CT-afferents (Löken et al., 2009, Ackerley et al., 2014). Since C-fibers fatigue rapidly (Vallbo et al., 1999), the strokes were alternated between two parallel areas (each about 15 cm long) of the left forearm. The strokes were performed by an experimenter wearing a silk glove, which reduced friction and variability caused by changes in the temperature and moisture levels of the skin. The experimenter was seated behind a curtain, concealed from the participant's view, to avoid

distraction due to visual contact between the participant and the experimenter.

Machine touch consisted of 70 Hz vibration, with 3 s duration, which was applied with a vibratory device to the dorsum of the three successive areas of the participant's left hand. The device was handheld by the experimenter, who was in the same proximity of the participant as during human touch. Vibratory stimuli of this frequency mainly activate myelinated Aβ afferents and CT-afferents to a lesser degree (Bessou et al., 1971) Machine touch and human touch were matched on sensory intensity, as validated by subjective reports (see results). Therefore, this stimulation served as a control stimulus for the CT-activating touch, differing from the gentle stroking in social relevance and C-fiber activity. The part of the device that was in contact with the skin was covered with silk fabric.

#### Stroking touch (Paper III and IV)

In **Paper III and IV**, gentle strokes were applied to the dorsum of the participant's left forearm (20 cm distance) at a velocity of ~5 cm/s, using a 7-cm-wide soft artist's goat hair brush (Morrison et al., 2011). The brush strokes were administered for 10 s in a proximal-to-distal direction (i.e. towards the hand). Similarly to the human touch stimuli (**Paper I and II**), this type of stimulation is consistently perceived as pleasant, and efficiently activates CT-afferents, which are thought to signal affective aspects of touch (Löken et al., 2009, Olausson et al., 2010).

#### Warm touch (Paper III)

A soft, gel-filled heat pad (ColdHot Pack, 3M Health Care) was heated for 60 s in a microwave oven ( $\sim$ 42.5 °C surface temperature) immediately before the experiment. The heat pad, wrapped in thin nylon cloth, was placed gently on the dorsum of the left forearm for 10 s and then removed, resembling the touch of a warm human hand. The heat pad decreased slightly in temperature from 42.5 °C at the start, to 40 °C at the end of the  $\sim$ 15 minutes long experiment. A comparison between stimulus ratings in the first versus the last half of the experiment showed a slight decrease in perceived pleasantness, which may be related to the decrease in temperature. Importantly however, this effect did not significantly differ between placebo and control sessions (p = 0.2).

#### Moderate heat-pain (Paper III and IV)

Heat stimuli were delivered using an MRI compatible peltier thermode (Pathway model ATS,  $30 \times 30$  mm, Medoc). A moderately painful temperature, which was selected for each participant before the first

experimental session (5 on a numeric rating scale, NRS, with anchors 0 = no pain; 1 = pain threshold; 10 = intense pain), was used during both experimental sessions (mean temperatures: **Paper III**:  $47.1 \pm 0.73$ °C; **Paper IV**:  $47.2 \pm 0.73$ °C). The thermode was placed on the dorsum of the participant's left hand for 10 s, and then removed. Participants were not informed that the same temperature was used for all heat stimuli, but were instructed to focus on their experience of each individual stimulus. To avoid skin sensitization that could affect the positive touch experience, painful touch was applied at a location adjacent to the pleasant touch stimuli.

#### 3.5 Oxytocin administration

In **Paper I and II**, each individual participated in two sessions on separate days (on average 3.4 (SD = 3.3, range 1—15) days apart), in counterbalanced order: once with 40 International Units (IU) oxytocin (Syntocinon, Novartis, Basel, Switzerland; ten puffs alternating between the left and the right nostril) and once with saline (0.9%, Miwana, Gällivare, Sweden; ten puffs alternating as above), in a double-blind manner.

# 3.5.1 How does intranasal oxytocin affect cognition and behavior?

There is a myriad of studies showing behavioral effects of intranasal oxytocin administration. There are however many unanswered questions related to how exactly nasal oxytocin affect behavior, cognition, and in some cases, sensations: Do the molecules that are sprayed into the nasal cavity enter the brain, and if so, how? Once they have entered the brain, do they reach the appropriate receptor targets? Is it possible that nasal oxytocin does not enter the brain at all, but affects behavior indirectly through its peripheral action in (e.g. the heart or gut, where it is likely to affect afferent signaling)?

Two important human studies provide some insight into the route of intranasal oxytocin. One investigation measured ventricular spinal fluid levels of arginine vasopressin (AVP), a neuropeptide that is structurally very similar to oxytocin, after intranasal administration of 40 or 80 IU of AVP (Born et al., 2002). They found a dose-dependent increase in spinal cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) levels of AVP few minutes after administration, which lasted for at least 80 minutes. The authors suggested two possible routes whereby the neuropeptides reached the brain. One possibility involved the internalization of peptides into olfactory neurons, followed by intraneuronal axonal transport, though the authors noted that this sluggish process could potentially take hours, and therefore was unlikely to be the

cause the relatively rapid rise of AVP in CSF. Another possibility, suggested by the authors to be more likely, is an extraneuronal route whereby peptides passed through intercellular clefts in the olfactory epithelium, to then diffuse through the subarachnoid space into ventricular CSF. Importantly, this study used AVP and not oxytocin, and assessed spinal CSF levels and not binding to brain receptors. Nevertheless, due to the structural similarity between AVP and oxytocin, the study is often cited in support of the assumption that intranasal oxytocin influences behavior through direct effects in the brain. A recent study replicated this study with intranasal oxytocin. They assessed oxytocin levels in plasma and spinal CSF 0 to 75 min after intranasal oxytocin, and report an increase in oxytocin levels in both blood plasma and spinal CSF (Striepens et al., 2013). However, while the increase in plasma level was almost immediate and lasted throughout the assessment, spinal CSF levels of oxytocin (perhaps surprisingly) did not increase until 75 min after intranasal administration. Therefore, while the observation may indicate that "oxytocin reaches the brain", it remains entirely possible that this increase arises from endogenous oxytocin release, resulting from indirect central or peripheral effects of intranasal oxytocin. Furthermore, the very small sample size of this between-subjects study (CSF data 75 min after administration consisted of only one individual) warrants replication. A recent study reported increased extracellular levels of oxytocin in the amygdala and hippocampus in rodents, as early as 30 min after intranasal oxytocin administration (Neumann et al., 2013), supporting the notion that intranasal oxytocin reaches relevant limbic structures. Note that in human studies, intranasal oxytocin is typically administered about 30-45 min before testing.

Although these studies support that intranasal oxytocin may affect central targets through an intra- or extraneuronal route, this does not rule out an involvement of a peripheral "indirect" route. To what degree, if at all, oxytocin molecules can pass the blood brain barrier (BBB) is still subject to debate (McEwen, 2004, Churchland and Winkielman, 2012). Animal research indicates that the amount of plasma oxytocin that passes the BBB is only 0.01% in sheep (Kendrick et al., 1986, Kendrick et al., 1991) and 0.002% in rats (Mens et al., 1983). However, the penetrability of the BBB to oxytocin can be affected by physiological conditions, e.g. stress, hypertension and disease (Churchland and Winkielman, 2012). Nevertheless, in two studies, Hollander et al. performed intravenous infusion of oxytocin in patients with autism spectrum disorder. They report an improvement of repetitive behavior (Hollander et al., 2003) and retention of social cognition (Hollander et al., 2007) after the infusion of oxytocin relative to placebo. While this is compatible with a blood-brain route through the BBB, another possibility is binding of oxytocin to peripheral targets, e.g. afferent branches

of the vagus nerve, which are central to emotional processes. Vagal activity is closely related to the expression and regulation of emotion (Porges et al., 1994, Porges, 2007, Quintana et al., 2012), and vagal stimulation induces the release of oxytocin in the rodent brain (McEwen, 2004).

Taken together, the existing evidence suggests that intranasal oxytocin is likely to influence social behavior and cognition *both* directly via olfactory nerve pathways, *and* indirectly through the activation of afferents in the periphery and possibly via the blood stream. The labeling of intranasal oxytocin in primates or rodents, or positron emission tomography with an oxytocin receptor sensitive ligand in humans, may reveal important insights on the specific route of action.

#### 3.6 Measurement and analysis

#### 3.6.1 Subjective report of stimuli

Participants indicated their subjective experience of the visual and somatosensory stimuli on Visual Analog Scales (VAS) with two verbal anchors. These scales were presented on a computer monitor either immediately after (Paper I and II) or 8 s after (Paper III and IV) each stimulus.

#### Paper I and II

Ratings of three aspects of the visuo-tactile stimuli were collected: (i) perceived mood/facial expression; (ii) perception of social characteristics of the face stimuli and (iii) touch perception. Each aspect was measured via two VAS - one such rating scale pair was displayed after each stimulus in pseudo-randomized order: 1A: How happy was the person (Not happy – Happy); 1B: How angry was the person? (Not angry-Angry); 2A: How attractive was the person? (Unattractive-Attractive); 2B: How friendly was the person? (Not Friendly-Friendly); 3A: How pleasant was the touch? (Unpleasant – Pleasant) and 3B: How intense was the touch? (Not noticeable - Intense). The order of presentation of the rating scale pairs was pseudorandomized within each session and within each rating scale pair. Therefore, the participants were unable to predict the occurrence of the specific rating scales. Participants were informed of this before the experiment onset and were instructed to pay attention to all aspects of the visual and the tactile stimuli in every trial since the subsequent rating scales could revolve around either.

#### Paper III and IV

In a similar fashion, hedonic aspects (Unpleasant – Pleasant, **Paper III and IV**) and intensity aspects (Not at all intense – Very intense, **Paper IV**) of the pleasant or painful somatosensory stimuli were recorded after each stimulus. The order of presentation of the hedonic (**Paper III and IV**) and intensity scales (**Paper IV**) was pseudo-randomized.

#### 3.6.2 Subjective report of mood (Paper I and IV)

In **Paper I-IV**, participants' mood was assessed by a VAS with 7 items (anchors: Not at all – Very much so), all starting with "Right now, I feel...", and ending with "frightened", "sad", "annoyed", "happy", "calm", "anxious", "alert". Mood was assessed (i) before the nasal spray administration; (ii) immediately before the experimental protocol and (iii) immediately after the experimental protocol (**Paper I-IV**).

# 3.6.3 Subjective report of treatment expectations (Paper III and IV)

After watching the video documentary about oxytocin, participants filled in a questionnaire (-3 to +3 Likert scale, with the anchors "completely disagree" and "completely agree") addressing specific expectations about the effects of intranasal oxytocin (**Paper III and IV**). This questionnaire included 10 items, all starting with "I believe a nasal spray containing oxytocin will make me. . ." and ending either with relevant statements (experience touch as more pleasant, warmth as more pleasant (**Paper III** only), pain as less unpleasant) or with control items (feel more outgoing and social, feel less patient, discriminate better between moving touch velocities, feel touch as unpleasant, feel happier, more relaxed, feel generally more delighted). Participants filled in the same questionnaire in both sessions.

## 3.6.4 Analysis of subjective reports and questionnaires

Statistical analyses of the psychophysical data were performed using SPSS 12.0 and 18.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA), and Matlab (The Mathworks Inc., Natick, MA, USA).

# 3.6.5 Functional magnetic resonance imaging (Paper III)

In order to compare brain processing involved in placebo hyperhedonia and analgesia (Paper III), we performed the experiments using fMRI, a

technique that utilizes a blood-oxygen level-dependent (BOLD) contrast to estimate task-related brain activity (Worsley, 2001). We used the FMRIB Software Library (FSL) for preprocessing and statistical analysis of fMRI data.

#### Acquisition

Imaging was performed at the Intervention Centre, Oslo University Hospital, using a Philips Achieva 3 Tesla whole body MR unit equipped with an 8-channel Philips SENSE (reduction factor = 2) head coil (Philips Medical Systems, Best, the Netherlands). Functional images were acquired with a gradient-echo echo-planar imaging (EPI) sequence: TR = 2000 ms; TE = 30 ms; flip angle =  $80^{\circ}$ ; field-of-view =  $240 \times 240$ ; in-plane resolution =  $3 \times 3 \text{ mm}$ ; slice thickness = 3 mm; gap spacing between slices = 0.3 mm; number of axial slices (placed on the ac-pc line) = 34; number of volumes =  $510 \cdot \text{A}$  high-resolution T1-weighted scan was acquired directly after the fMRI sequence in session two, to aid registration of the EPI images to standard space: TR = 7.1 ms; TE = 3.2 ms; flip angle =  $8^{\circ}$ ; field-of-view =  $256 \times 256$ ; in-plane resolution =  $1 \times 1 \text{ mm}$ ; slice thickness = 1 mm (no gap); number of axial slices =  $160 \cdot 10^{\circ}$ 

#### Preprocessing

The following pre-statistical processing was applied within each individual run: motion correction using MCFLIRT (Jenkinson et al., 2002); non-brain removal using BET (Smith, 2002); spatial smoothing using a Gaussian kernel of full-width half-maxim 5 mm; grand-mean intensity normalization of the entire 4D dataset by a single multiplicative factor; high pass temporal filtering (Gaussian-weighted least-squares straight line fitting with a high pass filter cutoff of 120.0 s).

We applied a denoising procedure using probabilistic independent component analysis (ICA) (Beckmann and Smith, 2004) as implemented in MELODIC (Multivariate Exploratory Linear Decomposition into Independent Components) v3.10. Independent components were visually inspected, and labeled noise-components or signal-components, following the guidelines presented by Kelly et al. (Kelly et al., 2010). The time courses of noise-components were filtered out from the preprocessed data, and the resulting denoised data were used in the statistical analyses. (See **Paper III**, Fig. S4 and Table S3 for an illustration of the effect of denoising on pain signal in the PAG/colliculi).

#### **Statistical Analysis**

A unique input stimulus function was defined for each stimulus type (stroking, warm, and pain), and for the VAS rating intervals. Input stimulus functions were convolved with the hemodynamic response function ( $\gamma$ HRF) to yield regressors for the GLM. Time-series statistical analysis was carried out using FILM with local autocorrelation correction (Woolrich et al., 2001). Registration to high-resolution structural and standard space images was carried out using FLIRT (Jenkinson and Smith, 2001, Jenkinson et al., 2002). Higher-level (group) analyses were performed using FLAME 1+2 (FMRIB's Local Analysis of Mixed Effects).

We restricted searches to regions of interest (ROI) involved in (i) somatosensory processing) and (ii) prefrontal and subcortical regions reported to mediate placebo responses, and placebo analgesia in particular. Because these regions collectively are involved in valuation and reward-related processing more generally (Lindquist et al., 2012, Roy et al., 2012), and for reasons of clarity and brevity, we will refer to this set of regions as "emotion appraisal circuitry". All a priori regions of interest (ROI) were defined from independent sources.

ROIs in contralateral parts of the somatosensory circuitry comprised: (i) posterior insula (pINS/Ig2, p > 30%); (ii) primary somatosensory area (SI/area 3b, p > 50%); (iii) secondary somatosensory area (SII/OP4, p > 50%): Jülich histological atlas (Eickhoff et al., 2007); and (iv) sensory thalamus Oxford thalamic connectivity probability atlas (p > 10%) (Behrens et al., 2003). Very few voxels are more than 50% probable of being in the pINS/Ig2 and the sensory thalamus in the Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI152) standard map. Therefore, to ensure enough space was provided for detecting effects within these structures, thresholds for these ROIs were lowered to 30% and 10%, respectively, thereby reducing the risk of type II errors (see **Paper III**, Fig. S6, for illustrations of all ROIs overlaid on a MNI152 standard brain).

ROIs defined within emotion appraisal circuitry comprised: (i) the pregenual anterior cingulate cortex (pgACC) and (ii) mOFC [spheres (8-mm radius) around peak activations from a meta-analysis of placebo analgesia (Amanzio et al., 2013)]; (iii) the nucleus accumbens (NAc) and (iv) amygdala (Harvard-Oxford subcortical atlas, P > 50%); (v) the periaqueductal gray (PAG) (mask used by Eippert et al. (2009a)); and (vi) the ventral tegmental area [VTA; manually drawn based on anatomical landmarks from the Duvernoy's Brainstem atlas (Naidich et al., 2009), ranging from MNI152 coordinates z (-10) to z (-18)]. Selection of the regions (mOFC, pgACC, PAG) for the

comparison between placebo-induced ventromedial prefrontal cortex (vmPFC)–PAG functional coupling and placebo-induced change in sensory regions was based on a priori predictions derived from this circuit's involvement in placebo analgesia (Bingel et al., 2006, Wager et al., 2007, Eippert et al., 2009a). This selection was made irrespective of these regions' activation in the basic contrast (placebo > control) because of the individual variability in placebo response magnitude.

To investigate whether structures outside the hypothesized circuitry were important for placebo hyperhedonia or analgesia, we performed voxel-based analyses using a whole-brain approach with a corrected cluster significance threshold of p = 0.05 (Worsley, 2001). We did not observe any additional activations that furthered our understanding of the current findings (see **Paper III**, Table S4 for the results of this analysis).

#### 3.6.6 Pupillometry (Paper I and II)

#### Acquisition

The pupil diameter of the participant's left eye was measured using a non-invasive, infrared eye tracker (iView X Hi-Speed monocular system, SMI-SensoMotoric Instruments, Teltow, Germany) at a rate of 240 Hz for the duration of each stimulus pair (3000 ms).

Pupil diameter data for each participant and session were pre-processed in Matlab, and analyzed in SPSS. Because of technical constraints, (malfunction of software or hardware), some datasets were unusable. Therefore the analysis was performed with data from 25 participants (50 sessions) where we obtained good-quality recordings. Eye blinks and artifacts were excluded, leaving physiologically plausible pupil sizes of 1 - 9 mm. Average time series were created for each stimulus type; these time series were smoothed using a 10Hz cutoff low-pass filter (a five-pole Chebyshev Type II filter). The time series were normalized to reflect the total dilation of the pupil for each stimulus type by subtracting the average pupil size during the first 200 ms from all points in the time series.

#### Statistical analysis

For statistical analysis, the trimmed mean pupil dilation was computed for the ten 250-ms 'bins' between 500 and 3000 ms for each stimulus type, session and participant. The trimmed means were entered into a linear mixed model analysis using SPSS with the following variables: drug treatment (oxytocin or placebo); tactile stimulation (stroking touch or vibration) and visual facial expression (explicit anger, implicit anger, neutral, implicit happiness and

explicit happiness). A subsequent analysis further included participant gender and order of treatment presentation. In a third mixed model analysis, we also included the between-subjects variable of emotional sensitivity score, as defined from behavioral ratings.

#### 3.7 Design considerations

#### 3.7.1 Paper III

#### Piloting and development of design

To validate that our experimental setup was able to produce the placebo responses that we aimed to investigate with fMRI, we explored various design options in a series of pilot studies with a total of ~40 healthy volunteers.

To induce an expectation of intranasal oxytocin's beneficial effects on painful and pleasant touch experience, we created a 6-min video documentary summarizing scientific findings of oxytocin's putative pro-social effects such as its involvement in bonding, love, grooming, affective touch, and healing. The video was shown to the participants before the experimental protocol in both sessions. As all of the material was based on published research, there was no deception. The video concluded that a nasal spray of oxytocin might enhance the pleasantness of: (i) stroking and (ii) warm touch, and (iii) reduce the unpleasantness of pain. The video was introduced using a scripted explanation: "Due to the recent surge in scientific and media interest in oxytocin's positive effects in humans, how much people know about oxytocin varies greatly. Thus, we show everyone this film to even out the differences."

#### 3.7.2 Paper IV

#### Creation and validation of the documentary videos

In making the two documentary videos, we strived to make them as balanced as possible on all aspects except for their specific suggestions of hyperhedonia and analgesia. Furthermore, the information presented in both films was based on published research – thus there was no deception. The two films were narrated by the same person, who kept the same intonation. The films were comparable in duration (hyperhedonia film: 6:08 min; analgesia film: 6:15), and kept the same overall narrative structure. Finally, they involved the same net amount of depictions of social situations involving interpersonal touch (both 58 s). To formally validate the balance

and potency of the films, we presented them to 20 volunteers – 10 who viewed the hyperhedonia film and 10 who viewed the analgesia film. Before and after viewing the film, participants rated their mood (*see section 3.6.2*.). After viewing the film, they also rated their beliefs about the effects of oxytocin nasal spray (*see section 3.6.3*), and how they perceived the content and technical quality of the films. This was assessed with a 1-10 NRS with 11 items, all starting with "I found the film...", and ending with "believable", "interesting", "untrustworthy", "positive", "professional", "unpleasant", "tedious", "cozy", "negative", "emotionally charged", "amateurish".

To compare whether the two documentary films differentially impacted on the participants' (i) mood or (ii) expectations of the effects of intranasal oxytocin, and (iii) impressions of the content and technical quality of the film, we performed separate ANOVAs for each aspect.

To investigate mood responses, we performed a repeated measures ANOVA with the within-subjects factors questionnaire item and time of assessment (before the film, after the film), and the between-subjects factor video (hyperhedonia suggestion, analgesia suggestion). The results showed an expected main effect of questionnaire item (F(2.5, 47.6) = 47.9, p < 0.001), but no significant main effect of time of assessment (F(1, 18) = 2.4, p = 0.14), and no interactions involving time of assessment or video (p-values > 0.17). Thus, we did not find evidence that the videos, differentially or in general, influenced mood.

To investigate expectations of the effects of intranasal oxytocin, we performed a repeated measures ANOVA with the within-subjects factor questionnaire item and the between-subjects factor video (hyperhedonia expectation, analgesia expectation). The results showed an expected main effect of item (F(4.2, 75) = 30.0, p < 0.001) and a significant interaction between item and video (F(4.2, 75) = 3.01, p = 0.02). Planned paired t-tests between the response on each relevant item (touch hyperhedonia, analgesia), and the averaged responses on the irrelevant control items, were calculated within each video group. In the HYP group, expectations of touch hyperhedonia were higher than of analgesia (p = 0.008) and of control items (p < 0.001). In the ANA group, expectations of analgesia were higher than of touch hyperhedonia (p < 0.004) and of control items (p < 0.001)

To investigate participants' impressions of the content and quality of the films, we performed a repeated measures ANOVA with the within-subjects factor questionnaire item and the between-subjects factor video (hyperhedonia expectation, analgesia expectation). The results showed an

expected main effect of item (F(4.2, 79) = 28.7, p < 0.001), but there was no significant interaction between item and video (F(4.2, 79) = 0.98, p = 0.42). Thus, we did not find evidence that the two films differed in the participants' evaluations of content and technical quality.

#### 4 RESULTS

### 4.1 Paper I

Here, we investigated how oxytocin and gentle human touch affect social impressions of others, and vice versa how others' facial expressions and oxytocin affect touch experience.

## 4.1.1 Oxytocin and human touch sharpened evaluations of friendliness and attractiveness

After oxytocin treatment, relative to placebo, human touch sharpened participants' social evaluation of others, such that faces with angry expressions were rated as less friendly and attractive, while faces with neutral or happy expressions were rated as more friendly and attractive.

## 4.1.2 Facial expression of others influenced pleasantness of human touch more strongly than machine touch

Ratings of pleasantness increased incrementally with the emotional valence of the concomitantly presented faces. Specifically, participants enjoyed touch the most when they were observing a smiling face, while they enjoyed touch the least when observing a frowning face. This affected the pleasantness of both human and machine touch, indicating that the effect of seeing emotional expressions is not constrained to socially relevant stimuli (e.g. touch from another human), but may work in a more unspecific fashion to impact on hedonic or affective impact in general. However, observing a frowning face had a stronger negative impact on the pleasantness of human touch compared to machine touch.

### 4.1.3 Oxytocin did not alter touch experience

Contrary to our hypothesis, intranasal administration of oxytocin affected neither touch pleasantness nor touch intensity. Although null results should always be interpreted with caution (Cumming, 2014), this may point to other neurotransmitters as responsible for shaping how touch is appraised, e.g. opioids (Løseth et al., In press). Nevertheless, in a recent study, heterosexual males reported an oxytocin-induced selective increase of self-reported pleasantness of sensual caresses only when they believed it was performed by

a woman, indicating that oxytocin's role in hedonic touch experience may depend on social context (Scheele et al., 2014).

# 4.1.4 Human touch produced larger pupil responses to happy expressions, but smaller pupil responses to angry expressions, compared to machine touch

The pupil dilates in response to rewarding and salient events, and is considered an accurate physiological index of attentional allocation (Beatty, 1982, Laeng et al., 2012). Oxytocin (relative to placebo) and human touch (relative to machine touch) independently increased pupillary responses to the visuo-tactile stimuli. Further, human touch combined with a smiling face produced the largest increase in pupil dilation while machine touch combined with a smiling face produced the smallest increase in pupil dilation.

### 4.2 Paper II

Here, we investigated the effect of oxytocin on the appraisal of others' explicit and "hidden" emotions, and assessed whether this depends on how "sensitive" people are towards others' subtle emotional expressions.

## 4.2.1 Oxytocin enhanced evaluation of explicitly and implicitly presented angry and happy facial expressions

Intranasal oxytocin induced a sharpening effect on the evaluation of presented faces. After oxytocin treatment, relative to placebo, participants rated happy faces as happier and less angry, but angry faces as angrier and less happy. This pattern was observed both for explicitly and implicitly presented facial expressions.

## 4.2.2 Sensitivity to differences in subtle expressions at baseline predicted oxytocinenhanced emotional sensitivity

To assess whether the effect of oxytocin depended on individual differences in emotional processing, we calculated a baseline "emotional sensitivity" score for each participant. A high emotional sensitivity score was assigned to participants who expressed a large perceived difference between implicit angry and implicit happy faces (i.e. implicit angry faces as angrier and less happy than implicit happy faces). A low emotional sensitivity score was

assigned to those who expressed a small or no perceived difference between implicit angry and implicit happy faces. We investigated the association between participants' emotional sensitivity score and oxytocin's effects on task performance using linear regression analyses. Participants who perceived implicitly angry faces as angrier and less happy than implicitly happy faces without oxytocin pre-treatment showed little benefit of intranasal oxytocin. In contrast, participants who were not sensitive to the differences between the implicitly presented angry and happy expressions at baseline showed greater improvement after oxytocin treatment.

### 4.2.3 Oxytocin enhanced stimulus-induced pupil

Oxytocin increased stimulus-induced pupil dilation compared to placebo, consistent with the notion that oxytocin administration increases attention towards socially relevant stimuli. We found a negative correlation between stimulus-induced pupil dilation (irrespective of oxytocin treatment) and emotional sensitivity score. Those with low emotional sensitivity had overall larger pupillary responses than those with high emotional sensitivity. This may reflect an increased attentional effort in evaluating these faces for those who showed difficulties in evaluating the implicit facial expressions. However, there was no evidence that oxytocin's beneficial effects on emotional sensitivity in this subgroup were due to additional attention to the socially relevant stimuli. Instead we found a trend towards the opposite effect, by which the high emotional sensitivity group showed a greater oxytocin enhancement of pupil dilation than did the low sensitivity group.

We also used stimulus-induced pupil dilation as an independent moderator to support the finding that oxytocin-induced sharpening depends on emotional sensitivity (see above). Indeed, we found that those with greatest task-related pupil responses at baseline, reflecting larger attentional effort, showed the greatest oxytocin-induced improvement in distinguishing implicit anger from implicit happiness.

### 4.3 Paper III

Here, we investigated the neural processing mediating expectancy-induced improvements of positive and negative hedonic feelings. We compared the placebo improvement of pleasant touch (hyperhedonia) and painful touch (analgesia), using behavioral measurements and fMRI in a crossover design.

#### 4.3.1 Expectations of treatment benefit

To assess participants' expectations after viewing the documentary video suggesting beneficial effects of oxytocin, they were asked to indicate on a Likert scale how much they agreed with a set of task-relevant and control statements about effects of intranasal oxytocin. Participants reported stronger expectations of increased warm touch and stroking touch pleasantness, and reduced pain unpleasantness, compared to task-irrelevant control items.

### 4.3.2 Placebo manipulation induced hyperhedonia and analgesia

After each experimental stimulus, participants indicated on a VAS (unpleasant – pleasant) how they perceived the stimulus. Placebo treatment induced a positive shift in hedonic ratings. Specifically, participants perceived stroking touch as more pleasant, warm touch as more pleasant, and painful touch as less unpleasant, after placebo treatment compared to control. Moreover, the individual magnitude of placebo improvement (measured as the placebo-control difference in ratings) correlated positively across all three stimulus types. In other words, those who responded with strong placebo hyperhedonia also displayed strong placebo analgesia.

### 4.3.3 Opposite effects on pleasant and painful touch processing in sensory circuitry

To compare the effects of placebo hyperhedonia and analgesia on somatosensory processing, we first assessed the placebo - control difference within each stimulus modality. We found significant placebo-induced increases in BOLD responses to stroking and warm touch in the posterior insula (pINS) and secondary somatosensory area. In contrast, we found placebo-induced decreases in BOLD responses to painful touch in primary (SI) and secondary (SII) somatosensory area. Direct comparisons between stimulus types confirmed that the placebo-induced BOLD responses to stroking and warm touch differed significantly from those to painful touch in pINS, SI, and SII. There were no significant differences in the sensory thalamus.

### 4.3.4 Placebo hyperhedonia and analgesia recruited similar emotion appraisal circuitry

To investigate placebo-induced processing in emotion appraisal circuitry, we performed voxel-wise comparisons (placebo - control) within each stimulus type. We found a significant placebo-induced BOLD increase in the nucleus

accumbens (NAc) during stroking, warm and painful touch, in an overlapping area as revealed by a conjunction analysis. Further, we found significant increases in the PAG (stroking and warm touch), amygdala (warm touch) and VTA (warm and painful touch). Placebo-induced recruitment of emotion appraisal circuitry did not significantly differ between the three touch stimuli.

Since the magnitude of placebo responses is subject to individual variability, this should be reflected in central processing. We therefore identified covariance with the behavioral placebo response within emotion appraisal circuitry by adding a regressor with each subject's average placebo improvement (placebo > control) for each stimulus type to the fMRI group analysis setup (placebo > control). This correlation analysis revealed that individuals with the strongest placebo improvement also had the largest placebo-induced BOLD increase in the mOFC (stroking), pgACC (stroking, pain), NAc (stroking, warm), amygdala (warm), PAG (stroking), and VTA (stroking, warm).

## 4.3.5 Placebo Responses Correlated with Increases in Functional Connectivity Within Emotion Appraisal Circuitry

Previous studies show that placebo analgesia is underpinned by increases in functional connectivity of the pgACC and mOFC with the PAG and amygdala (Bingel et al., 2006, Eippert et al., 2009a, Wager et al., 2011). We used a psychophysiological interaction (PPI) analysis (Friston et al., 1997, O'Reilly et al., 2012) to assess whether placebo-induced functional coupling between these prefrontal regions and subcortical emotion appraisal circuitry increased in proportion to the behavioral placebo effect. We confirmed significant placebo-induced increases in the functional coupling between prefrontal and subcortical emotion appraisal regions. Specifically, the stronger the individual placebo-induced increases in functional coupling between the mOFC and the amygdala, PAG, and NAc, the larger the reported benefit of placebo treatment on stroking touch pleasantness. Similarly, individuals with the strongest increases in functional coupling between pgACC and the mOFC, amygdala, NAc, and VTA also displayed the strongest placebo analgesia responses.

# 4.3.6 Placebo-induced functional coupling correlated with opposite modulation of sensory processing during placebo hyperhedonia and analgesia

To investigate how placebo-induced functional coupling within emotion appraisal circuitry related to sensory processing, we assessed the covariance between the placebo-induced vmPFC - PAG coupling and the placeboinduced changes in sensory areas. We performed a correlation analysis between 1) each individual's placebo-induced increase in mOFC - PAG coupling, and 2) each individual's placebo-induced change in sensory areas. Placebo-induced functional coupling between mOFC and PAG correlated with placebo-induced modulation of sensory areas in opposite directions during hyperhedonia and analgesia. Specifically, individuals with strong placebo-induced increases in mOFC-PAG coupling had larger increases in SII responses to stroking touch, but larger decreases in SII responses to painful touch. Moreover, we formally tested whether these relationships differed between placebo hyperhedonia and analgesia. Direct comparisons between these correlation coefficients revealed that the correlation between placebo-induced mOFC-PAG coupling and placebo-induced change in sensory areas (SI and pINS; separate analyses) were significantly more positive during stroking touch compared to painful touch. A similar pattern was revealed for the functional coupling between pgACC and PAG. High placebo-induced pgACC-PAG coupling correlated significantly with increases in SII responses to stroking and warm touch, and decreases in SI responses to painful touch, consistent with a general pattern of modulation across sensory circuitry.

### 4.4 Paper IV

Here, we investigated whether the suggestion of treatment benefit on either touch pleasantness or pain unpleasantness by itself can bring about placebo improvement of both pleasure (hyperhedonia) and pain (analgesia). We compared self-reported improvement of pain and touch hedonics after an intranasal placebo treatment that was suggested to either improve touch pleasantness (HYP group) or provide pain relief (ANA group).

### 4.4.1 Expectation of treatment benefit

To assess participants' expectations after viewing the documentary video suggesting beneficial effects of oxytocin, they were asked to indicate on a Likert scale how much they agreed with a set of task-relevant and control

statements about the effects of intranasal oxytocin. Participants in the HYP group reported stronger expectations of increased touch pleasantness, compared to analgesia and task-irrelevant control items. Conversely, participants in the ANA group reported stronger expectations of pain relief, compared to touch hyperhedonia and task-irrelevant control items.

### 4.4.2 Suggestion of analgesia induced hyperhedonia, and vice versa

After placebo treatment, relative to a control condition without treatment, both the HYP and the ANA groups reported increased touch pleasantness and reduced pain unpleasantness. Similarly, there was a placebo-induced improvement of sensory intensity, whereby pain intensity was reduced and touch intensity was increased, in both the HYP group and the ANA group. Moreover, we did not find evidence that the magnitudes of placebo responses differed based on the specific treatment benefit (analgesia or hyperhedonia) that was presented in the video documentary, neither generally nor differentially for each stimulus.

#### **5 DISCUSSION**

The work presented in this thesis sheds light on the neurobiological mechanisms whereby hedonic somatic sensations are formed, and in turn affects the social evaluation of others. We found that inter-personal touch has a "sharpening" effect on social evaluation of others (Paper I). Oxytocin may increase sensitivity to emotional sensory cues, through increasing attention toward socially relevant stimuli (Paper II). Both pleasant and painful somatic sensations are shaped by expectations and beliefs. We showed that positive beliefs in a medical treatment shaped positive (pleasant touch) and negative (painful touch) sensations by modulating widespread sensory processing to match the prediction of treatment improvement (Paper III). This effect may stem from an expectation-induced motivational state, such that negative hedonic feelings are suppressed and positive hedonic feelings are boosted (Fields, 2004). The participants with strong hyperhedonia responses also had strong hyperhedonia responses. This corresponding pattern prevailed even when treatment was suggested to either reduce pain or increase pleasure (Paper IV). Participants who were informed that the treatment would provide analgesia not only perceived noxious heat stimuli as less painful, but also found the gentle touch stimuli more pleasant. Conversely, those who were informed that the treatment would provide hyperhedonia, without mention of analgesia, found the positive touch more pleasant, but also experienced pain relief.

### 5.1 Interactions between human interindividual touch, oxytocin, and social evaluations of others

Our findings shed light on the complex relationship between oxytocin, touch and social impressions of others. The observation that oxytocin "intensifies" or "sharpens" evaluation of others' mood, both positive and negative, is in line with the view that oxytocin mediates attention to, and interest in, socially relevant stimuli (Shamay-Tsoory, 2010, Kemp and Guastella, 2011). This was reflected by oxytocin-induced increases in stimulus-related pupil dilation responses, which may reflect an increase in attention to these socially relevant stimuli (Paper II).

Inter-personal touch has been suggested to intensify sensory information from other modalities (Knapp and Hall, 1997, Hertenstein et al., 2006a). Indeed, we found that concomitant human stroking touch made faces with

neutral or happy emotional expressions appear more attractive and friendly, but angry faces more unattractive and unfriendly (**Paper I**). Interestingly, this "emotional sharpening" effect was evident only after intranasal administration of oxytocin. The touch experience was in turn affected by the emotional expression of the observed faces. Touch was most pleasant when presented together with a smiling face and least pleasant when presented together with a frowning face. Human touch pleasantness was more profoundly influenced than machine touch, again reflecting the significance of human touch in these interactions. Contrary to our hypothesis, we did not find evidence that oxytocin affected touch experience – neither the overall pleasantness nor depending on the facial expression.

Oxytocin is thought to be involved in reward aspects of social processing (Uvnäs-Moberg, 1998, Insel and Young, 2001, Dolen et al., 2013). However, while intranasal oxytocin often influences social behavior and related social cognition, intranasal oxytocin is seldom reported to affect hedonic feelings or mood (but see Shamay-Tsoory et al., 2009). This may point towards other substances being more important for shaping the hedonic experience of touch, e.g. opioids (Løseth et al., In press). However, as the central effects of oxytocin are often reported to be specific to the social domain, oxytocin may play a role in hedonic touch experiences in more naturalistic social settings. A recent study reported that a group of heterosexual men found gentle caresses more pleasant after intranasal oxytocin (Scheele et al., 2014). Interestingly, this effect was limited to caresses they believed were performed by a female experimenter. Oxytocin did not affect the pleasantness of caresses they believed to be performed by a male experimenter, although the same female experimenter, who was blinded to the condition, performed all the caresses. One important difference between that study and ours was that our (male and female) participants were not informed about the identity or gender of the experimenter who performed the touch. However, at debriefing 67.5% of participants (55% of males) believed touch had been administered by a female both times, and only 7.5% believed the toucher was always male.

Similarly to oxytocin treatment, human touch increased pupillary responses to the emotional faces, relative to machine touch. This may reflect the overall salience of human touch we see in these interactions, likely due to the increased pleasantness and/or social relevance of human touch relative to machine touch. The degree to which the pupil effect can be attributed to the physical properties of the human touch stimuli (gentle, CT-optimal, stroking touch) or to the participants' knowledge that another human being was touching them, is not possible to disentangle from the present data.

## 5.2 Oxytocin increases sensitivity to others' subtle and explicit emotional expressions

Consistent with the idea that oxytocin raises the vigilance of socially relevant stimuli, we found that intranasal oxytocin, relative to placebo, sharpened the evaluations of others' mood, such that frowning faces appeared more angry and less happy, while smiling faces appeared happier and less angry. This effect was observed both for faces with explicitly expressed emotions and for faces displaying only subtle emotional cues but otherwise appeared as emotionally neutral. Oxytocin increased stimulus-induced pupil dilation responses to all the presented facial expressions. Pupil dilation has been successfully used as an index of interest, attention allocation or cognitive load (Hess and Polt, 1960, Kahneman and Beatty, 1966, Laeng et al., 2012), and shows close covariation with the firing of neurons in the locus coeruleus (LC), the principal site for norepinephrine synthesis in the brain (Aston-Jones and Cohen, 2005). LC signaling is thought to be particularly important for event detection and is closely related to the 'ventral attention network' (Corbetta et al., 2008). The LC also contains oxytocin receptors (Petersson et al., 1998). Thus, it is possible that the intranasal or endogenous increase of central oxytocin levels causes pupil dilation via direct oxytocinergic actions on neurons in the LC. Although speculative, this may reflect a potentially important mechanism underpinning the crucial role of oxytocin in pair bonding and affiliation (Feldman, 2012). A recent study replicated this finding, and reported increased pupil dilation in response to faces expressing happiness, anger, sadness, and fear, during an emotion recognition task (Prehn et al., 2013). Nevertheless, since both that study and ours included exclusively stimuli containing social information, we cannot know whether oxytocin increases pupil dilation primarily to social stimuli or to salient stimuli in general, regardless of its social relevance.

We found that the oxytocin-induced emotional sharpening effect depended on each individual's ability to distinguish between the implicitly angry and implicitly happy faces at baseline (defined as performance after placebo treatment). Participants with low baseline emotional sensitivity showed robust improvement on task performance, while those with high baseline emotional sensitivity showed little or no improvement from oxytocin. Since performance was measured as a difference in VAS scores, the question of whether there was a ceiling effect in high emotional sensitivity participants is not trivial. Nevertheless, the selective sharpening effect of oxytocin was also supported by a separate analysis using stimulus-induced pupil dilation as an

independent moderator, instead of the emotional sensitivity score. Those with high task-related pupil dilation, likely reflecting increased attentional demands, had the largest oxytocin-induced improvement of emotional sensitivity. Moreover, the finding replicated a recent study using an independent measure of emotional sensitivity. In that study, the effect of oxytocin on a behavioral task assessing empathic accuracy depended on each individual's social-cognitive competence, as measured with the Autism Spectrum Quotient (AQ) (Bartz et al., 2010). Individuals who were less tuned to social information, as indicated by high AQ scores, showed greater oxytocin-induced improvement on the emotional accuracy task. Curiously, autism spectrum score was recently negatively correlated with oxytocin enhancement of touch pleasantness (Scheele et al., 2014).

Findings of oxytocin's effects on emotion recognition and social approach behavior has fueled enthusiasm for intranasal oxytocin as a potential treatment in psychiatric disorders characterized by impaired social functioning, e.g. autism spectrum disorder (Gordon et al., 2013, Preti et al., 2014), schizophrenia (Fischer-Shofty et al., 2013, Davis et al., 2014), depression (Mah et al., 2014, Yan et al., 2014) and drug addiction (Kovacs et al., 1998). While our findings are consistent with the notion that oxytocin may improve social competence, and thereby prove a useful treatment for such clinical populations, little is known about long-term use of intranasal oxytocin, since human experimental studies usually employ one single dose. In light of recent reports of intranasal oxytocin effects on less virtuous social behavior, like in-group favoritism (De Dreu et al., 2011) and jealousy (Shamay-Tsoory et al., 2009), in humans, critics worry that oxytocin may be a "double-edged sword" unsuitable for treatment in these clinical conditions (Miller, 2013, Macdonald and Feifel, 2014).

### 5.3 Subjective utility and its prediction

Being touched by another person means that this person is in close proximity and is likely making an approach. The ability to efficiently decide whether a person is a friend or a foe may therefore be more important if this person touches you. The human touch induced "emotional sharpening" we observed (**Paper I**) may reflect mechanisms important for human affiliation, whereby social or emotional information received while being actively touched by another person may be biased, or sharpened, in order to facilitate a "quick-and-dirty" judgment of them (Tversky and Kahneman, 1974). This is reminiscent of biases in other senses. For example, people tend to overestimate change in auditory pitch for rising tones, which likely signals an

approaching object, compared to falling tones (Neuhoff, 1998). The reciprocal touch-vision interactions (Paper I), which may be oxytocinmediated (Paper I and II), reflect a general principle whereby the brain creates sensations. The brain perpetually draws on all available internal and sensory information in order to build an internal model of the environment. This model is used to guide choices by predicting the outcome of different actions and consequently the affective or hedonic value of these outcomes (Friston and Kiebel, 2009, O'Reilly et al., 2013). In a natural environment, such predictive coding may provide a selective advantage compared to a more exhaustive processing of a full range of "raw" sensory information. Shaping sensation in accord with the predictive model is more energy efficient, and can facilitate rapid decision-making when sensory information is ambiguous or incomplete (Tversky and Kahneman, 1974, Friston and Kiebel, 2009). Thus, sensations are always a product of both sensory activation and top-down regulation, making the brain more of an "interpreter" than a "measuring instrument".

Recently, a predictive coding framework has been employed to account for placebo and nocebo responses to pain (Buchel et al., 2014). Here, placebo analgesia is seen as an instance of an internal predictive model that makes active inferences about the sensory input, based on both the expected and the actual sensory activation. Depending on the magnitude and the precision of the prediction and the incoming afferent signal, the resulting pain is reduced if the treatment is believed to be efficient in suppressing pain. The authors suggested that it might be more meaningful to think in terms of one recurrent system, with modulation at almost every level of sensory processing, than to think in terms of one pain processing (ascending) and one pain modulatory (descending) system. A number of neuroimaging studies have studied placebo responses using experimental paradigms, especially placebo analgesia. Many of these show widespread suppression of somatosensory activity, and also modulation of processing in the spinal cord, which is consistent with such a predictive coding framework.

### 5.4 Placebo improvement of hedonic feelings

We found that expectation-induced increases in the pleasantness of gentle touch may rely on a mechanism similar to that of placebo analgesia (**Paper III**). The suggestion that a nasal spray would "boost" the pleasure of gentle touch induced hyperhedonia, which was associated with enhanced touch processing in sensory circuitry (SI, SII, and pINS). In contrast, fMRI

recordings during pain showed decreased somatosensory processing. Moreover, the magnitude of both hyperhedonic increases and analgesic decreases in somatosensory BOLD responses were associated with the individual strength of the functional coupling between the vmPFC and PAG. This influence of vmPFC-PAG coupling on sensory processing of both pain and pleasant touch may potentially reflect a descending modulatory mechanism perhaps acting at the spinal cord level, facilitating "positive" touch signals and suppressing nociceptive signals (Fields, 2004, Fields, 2007). However, since the PAG has bidirectional connections with a wide range of cortical and subcortical brain regions (Linnman et al., 2011), this modulation may rely on entirely central mechanisms. Further research is needed to pinpoint the exact mechanism whereby placebo-induced engagement of cortical and subcortical circuitry modulates sensory systems. but it is likely to emerge from a synergy of both descending action at the spinal cord level (Eippert et al., 2009b), and the interaction of dopaminergic (Scott et al., 2007, 2008, Schweinhardt et al., 2009) and opioidergic (Levine et al., 1978, Zubieta et al., 2005, Wager et al., 2007, Eippert et al., 2009a) cortico-limbic networks.

The extensive similarities between brain responses during placebo hyperhedonia and analgesia, combined with the positive correlation between behavioral placebo analgesia and hyperhedonia responses, led us to ask whether they arose from a generalized shift in motivational state (Fields, 2004, Fields, 2011). We found that when treatment was suggested to increase the pleasure of positive touch, people reported not only increased enjoyment of touch, but also reduced pain, although there was no mention of analgesic effects, and expectation ratings indicated no explicit expectation of analgesia (Paper IV). Conversely, participants who were told that the nasal spray they were about to take would induce pain relief reported both reduced pain and increased touch pleasantness. This is consistent with a view of placebo responses as a generalized mechanism of reward prediction (Fields, 2004, Lidstone et al., 2005, Petrovic et al., 2005). We propose the following mechanism: if a medical treatment is believed to reduce negative symptoms, like pain, this enables the individual to increase their focus on other behaviors, such as reward seeking. As a consequence, the hedonic impact of rewards, like pleasant touch, is also improved. Correspondingly, expecting increased hedonic impact of a reward may reduce the importance, and therefore the unpleasantness, of pain (Dum and Herz, 1984, Benedetti et al., 2013).

### 5.5 Clinical perspectives

In the clinical context, sensory signals (e.g. the clinical environment and treatment devices, the practitioner's white coat, his/her apparent mood, and the meaning of verbal information) interact with the patient's internal processes (e.g. expectation, memories, mood, attention) to influence the action of endogenous modulatory neural systems (Colloca and Benedetti, 2005, Enck et al., 2008). Inter-personal touch and the visual impression of the doctor's face can be conceptualized as nonverbal sensory cues, which can inform the patient's predictions about the outcome of the treatment. The quality of the patient-practitioner relationship can profoundly impact on the outcome of medical treatment across a range of medical conditions (McKay et al., 2006, Kaptchuk et al., 2008, Lynoe et al., 2011).

While most research in the field of medicine has focused on the relief of negative hedonic feelings, like pain or discomfort, the research presented in this thesis suggests broadening the view to also encompass positive hedonics. Inter-individual touch is frequently used to communicate positive messages, like reassurance, comfort, sympathy, and support (Hertenstein et al., 2006b). Consistent with this, socially appropriate touch has been proposed to strengthen placebo effects (Moerman and Jonas, 2002, Jonas, 2011). In human infants (Fairhurst et al., 2014) and mammals (Dunbar, 2010), stroking touch has parasympathetic and anxiolytic effects, which have been proposed to work through oxytocin (Uvnäs-Moberg, 1997, 1998). Interestingly, a recent study reported that oxytocin boosted placebo analgesia, perhaps as a consequence of an increased quality of the interaction with the treatment provider (Kessner et al., 2013). Our findings suggest that oxytocin mediates a bimodal effect of inter-individual touch on the impressions of others (Paper I). After intranasal oxytocin, receiving gentle human touch during viewing of faces enhanced both positive ratings of innocuous, friendly faces and negative ratings of frowning, threatening faces.

Since a high quality patient-practitioner interaction relies on a foundation of safety and trust, our findings highlight the importance of the meaning of touch. Inter-personal touch may mediate social bond formation and maintenance through oxytocinergic mechanisms, but this is likely to be dependent on the other available sensory cues (Paper I), as well as internal motivational state (Paper III-IV). We found broad similarities between the expectancy-induced improvement of positive and negative hedonic feelings, both in subjective reports and in the underlying activation of neural circuitry involved in emotion appraisal and valuation (Paper III). Further, we found that the suggestion that a drug would have beneficial effects on positive

hedonics (through a purpose-made video documentary of  $\sim$ 6 min duration) was sufficient to also induce the suppression of negative hedonics (pain), and vice versa (**Paper IV**). Thus, focusing on positive appetitive outcomes of a treatment, such as life quality or regained ability to enjoy pleasures (i.e. alleviation of anhedonia), may suppress negative symptoms as well. Conversely, patients' belief in a treatment's ability to abolish negative symptoms may increase the capacity to enjoy pleasures, which is disrupted in a wide range of psychiatric disorders and chronic pain conditions (Rømer Thomsen et al., in press).

#### **6 CONCLUSIONS**

**Paper I.** Oxytocin interacted with human gentle touch to sharpen social evaluations of others. The hedonic value of touch from an unseen stranger was in turn shaped by concurrently observed emotional expressions of others.

**Paper II.** Oxytocin increased sensitivity to (subtle and explicit) positive and negative emotional expressions in others, an effect that was stronger in those with low emotional sensitivity at baseline. Oxytocin increased pupillary responses, consistent with the view that this hormone mediates attention to socially relevant sensory cues.

**Paper III.** Placebo improvement of pleasure (hyperhedonia) and pain (analgesia) were underpinned by corresponding up- or down-regulated stimulus responses in sensory circuitry. The functional coupling between prefrontal and brainstem structures correlated with individual magnitudes of both placebo hyperhedonia and analgesia, and the underlying sensory modulation.

**Paper IV.** The expectation that a treatment will increase pleasure induced improvements of both pleasant touch and pain. Conversely, the expectation of analgesia induced both pain relief and increased touch pleasantness.

#### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENT**

This work was carried out at the Department of Clinical Neurophysiology, Institute of Neuroscience and Physiology at the Sahlgrenska Academy, University of Gothenburg.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to everyone who contributed to the work in this thesis, and I deeply apologize to everyone I forgot to mention.

My deepest gratitude to my supervisors, Johan Wessberg, Siri Leknes, and Håkan Olausson. You are a dream team and I feel very lucky to have had the opportunity to work with you. Dear Johan, thank you for your exceptional generosity and for your eagerness of helping, discussing, and sharing your knowledge. Your genuine curiosity for science is a true inspiration for me, and I am grateful for the unconditioned freedom you have given me in choosing my projects. To Siri, the reason I fell in love with research in the first place, I am immensely happy that I decided to ask you to be my mentor for my master's project five years ago. Your creativity, diligence, and passion for learning and understanding has made its mark on me, and shaped me as a researcher. I am excited and curious about what projects we will collaborate on in the future. Huge thanks to Håkan, for welcoming me into this research group, and for your generosity on every level. Your fascinating ability to take a broader perspective on things, and at the same time bring things down to earth, has benefited this work a great deal.

A special thanks to Rochelle Ackerley for excellent proofreading and lingual damage control of this thesis.

To all my research colleagues in Gothenburg (past and present) for an amazing time. It's been a blast: Irene Perini, Jaquette Liljencrantz, Linda Lundblad, Karin Rylander, Simon Bergstrand, Malin Björnsdotter Åberg India Morrison, Helena Backlund Wasling, Rochelle Ackerley, Karin Saar, Karin Göthner, Anthony Lissot, Chantal Triscoli, Emma Jönsson, Isac Sehlstedt, Elin Nilsson, Erik Ziegler, Rick Johnson, Elena Orekhova, Sinan Amin, Silvia D'Angelo, Ylva Lilja, Hanna Ignell, Mikael Elam, Åke Vallbo, Ulf Norsell, Gunnar Wallin, Francis McGlone, Frida Sundemo, Elin Eriksson, Anna Kosovic, Gustav Hagberg, Monika Davidovic, Uta Sailer, Ilona Croy, Gisela Häggblad, Amanda Luong, Vicktoria Wagnbeck, Johan Kling, Andrew Marshall, Jim Dunham, Roger Watkins, Emma Hart, My Anderson, Sergei Perfiliev, Ingela Hammar, Joakim Strandberg, Yrsa

Sverrisdottir, Rong Ma, Ilse Riebe, Lars-Gunnar Pettersson, Eric Hanse, Andreas Björefeldt, Jonny Daborg, and Nooraldeen Al-Dury (Noor: the ridiculous amount of lunch and gibberish we've had together makes you categorize under 'colleague'). Special thanks to Irene Perini and Jaquette Liljencrantz, my PhD-student partners in crime. Thanks for paving the way (slightly) in front of me with all your glorious mistakes and successes. I have so many good memories, and I resist the realization that we're all done and heading separate ways.

My deepest gratitude to Tomas Carlsson and Simon Bergstrand for various solutions to technical issues. Without you, much of this work would have been very difficult to do.

To Irene Tracey, who generously welcomed me to visit her lab, which resulted in two wonderful months of Oxford life. I would like to thank all the members of the pain lab at FMRIB, especially Falk Eippert, Line Löken, Vishvarani Wanigasekera, Lorenzo Fabrizi, Ravi Poorun for an amazing time. A special thanks also to Jesper Anderson, for valuable consultation on fMRI analysis issues.

To Oslo Intervention Center/Department Of Psychology, University of Oslo, for access to the MRI scanner. I would also like to thank the MR staff.

I would like to thank my brilliant colleagues at the Department of Psychology, University of Oslo: Olga Chelnokova, Marie Eikemo, Guro Løseth, Bruno Laeng, and Tor Endestad.

To the staff at the Department of Clinical Neurophysiology for joyful conversations in the lunch room.

To the staff at Medtech West, for amusing lunch conversations and "after works": Justin Schneiderman, Andrew Mehnert, Henrik Mindedal, Leif Sandsjö, Stefan Candefjord, Arthur Chodorowski, Yazdan Shirvany, Qaiser Mohamood, Mohammad Alipoor.

Huge thanks to my all my friends and family, close and far away for support and good times – I love you all!

My deepest gratitude and love to my dear parents. Wherever I go in life, I always know you are there to support me, and that knowledge regularly gives me confidence and persistence in the challenges of life – big and small.

To my little sister Maria, you have a special place in my heart. I am extremely proud of you – no doubt you're the one of us who got away with the best genes. And no doubt you're the world's most awesome aunt and babysitter.

To my dearest daughters, Kornelia and Filippa, thank you for routinely claiming my attention away from work, towards something way more important. You mean the world to me.

Finally, to the love of my life, Hannah, for supporting me and holding up with my frantic last-minute regime before various deadlines. You are my main source of energy, and the reason I get up in the morning (literally). I love you more than anything in the world, and I'm excited about sharing the rest of my life with you.

The work in this thesis was supported by the Swedish Research Council and the Sahlgrenska University Hospital, the Marianne and Marcus Wallenberg Foundation, and the Research Council of Norway.

#### **REFERENCES**

- Abraira VE, Ginty DD (2013) The sensory neurons of touch. Neuron 79:618-639.
- Ackerley R, Backlund Wasling H, Liljencrantz J, Olausson H, Johnson RD, Wessberg J (2014) Human C-tactile afferents are tuned to the temperature of a skin-stroking caress. J Neurosci 34:2879-2883.
- Amanzio M, Benedetti F (1999) Neuropharmacological dissection of placebo analgesia: expectation-activated opioid systems versus conditioning-activated specific subsystems. J Neurosci 19:484-494.
- Amanzio M, Benedetti F, Porro CA, Palermo S, Cauda F (2013) Activation likelihood estimation meta-analysis of brain correlates of placebo analgesia in human experimental pain. Hum Brain Mapp 34:738-752.
- Aston-Jones G, Cohen JD (2005) Adaptive gain and the role of the locus coeruleus-norepinephrine system in optimal performance. J Comp Neurol 493:99-110.
- Auvray M, Myin E, Spence C (2010) The sensory-discriminative and affective-motivational aspects of pain. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 34:214-223.
- Bartz JA, Zaki J, Bolger N, Hollander E, Ludwig NN, Kolevzon A, Ochsner KN (2010) Oxytocin selectively improves empathic accuracy. Psychol Sci 21:1426-1428.
- Bartz JA, Zaki J, Bolger N, Ochsner KN (2011) Social effects of oxytocin in humans: context and person matter. Trends Cogn Sci 15:301-309.
- Bastian B, Jetten J, Hornsey MJ (2014) Gustatory pleasure and pain. The offset of acute physical pain enhances responsiveness to taste. Appetite 72:150-155.
- Beatty J (1982) Task-evoked pupillary responses, processing load, and the structure of processing resources. Psychol Bull 91:276-292.
- Beckmann CF, Smith SM (2004) Probabilistic independent component analysis for functional magnetic resonance imaging. IEEE Trans Med Imaging 23:137-152.
- Behrens TE, Johansen-Berg H, Woolrich MW, Smith SM, Wheeler-Kingshott CA, Boulby PA, Barker GJ, Sillery EL, Sheehan K, Ciccarelli O, Thompson AJ, Brady JM, Matthews PM (2003) Non-invasive mapping of connections between human thalamus and cortex using diffusion imaging. Nat Neurosci 6:750-757.
- Beier EG, Sternberg DP (1977) Marital communication. Journal of Communication 27:92-97.
- Benedetti F, Thoen W, Blanchard C, Vighetti S, Arduino C (2013) Pain as a reward: Changing the meaning of pain from negative to positive coactivates opioid and cannabinoid systems. Pain 154:361-367.
- Berna C, Leknes S, Holmes EA, Edwards RR, Goodwin GM, Tracey I (2010) Induction of depressed mood disrupts emotion regulation

- neurocircuitry and enhances pain unpleasantness. Biol Psychiatry 67:1083-1090.
- Berridge KC, Kringelbach ML (2008) Affective neuroscience of pleasure: reward in humans and animals. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 199:457-480
- Berridge KC, Kringelbach ML (2013) Neuroscience of affect: brain mechanisms of pleasure and displeasure. Curr Opin Neurobiol 23:294-303.
- Berridge KC, Robinson TE (1998) What is the role of dopamine in reward: hedonic impact, reward learning, or incentive salience? Brain Res Brain Res Rev 28:309-369.
- Bessou P, Burgess PR, Perl ER, Taylor CB (1971) Dynamic properties of mechanoreceptors with unmyelinated (C) fibers. J Neurophysiol 34:116-131.
- Bingel U, Lorenz J, Schoell E, Weiller C, Buchel C (2006) Mechanisms of placebo analgesia: rACC recruitment of a subcortical antinociceptive network. Pain 120:8-15.
- Bjornsdotter M, Loken L, Olausson H, Vallbo A, Wessberg J (2009) Somatotopic organization of gentle touch processing in the posterior insular cortex. J Neurosci 29:9314-9320.
- Born J, Lange T, Kern W, McGregor GP, Bickel U, Fehm HL (2002) Sniffing neuropeptides: a transnasal approach to the human brain. Nat Neurosci 5:514-516.
- Breiter HC, Gollub RL, Weisskoff RM, Kennedy DN, Makris N, Berke JD, Goodman JM, Kantor HL, Gastfriend DR, Riorden JP, Mathew RT, Rosen BR, Hyman SE (1997) Acute effects of cocaine on human brain activity and emotion. Neuron 19:591-611.
- Buchel C, Geuter S, Sprenger C, Eippert F (2014) Placebo Analgesia: A Predictive Coding Perspective. Neuron 81:1223-1239.
- Cabanac M (1971) Physiological role of pleasure. Science 173:1103-1107.
- Calvo MG, Lundqvist D (2008) Facial expressions of emotion (KDEF): identification under different display-duration conditions. Behav Res Methods 40:109-115.
- Campbell A (2008) Attachment, aggression and affiliation: the role of oxytocin in female social behavior. Biol Psychol 77:1-10.
- Churchland PS, Winkielman P (2012) Modulating social behavior with oxytocin: how does it work? What does it mean? Horm Behav 61:392-399.
- Colloca L, Benedetti F (2005) Placebos and painkillers: is mind as real as matter? Nat Rev Neurosci 6:545-552.
- Corbetta M, Patel G, Shulman GL (2008) The reorienting system of the human brain: from environment to theory of mind. Neuron 58:306-324.
- Crusco AH, Wetzel CG (1984) The midas touch: the effects of interpersonal touch on restaurant tipping. Pers Soc Psychol Bull 10:512-517.

- Cumming G (2014) The new statistics: why and how. Psychol Sci 25:7-29.
- Damasio A (2000) The feeling of what happens: Body and emotion in the making of consciousness. New York: Houghton Mifflin Harcourt.
- Damasio A, Damasio H, Tranel D (2012) Persistence of Feelings and Sentience after Bilateral Damage of the Insula. Cereb Cortex.
- Davis MC, Green MF, Lee J, Horan WP, Senturk D, Clarke AD, Marder SR (2014) Oxytocin-Augmented Social Cognitive Skills Training in Schizophrenia. Neuropsychopharmacology.
- de Araujo IE, Rolls ET, Velazco MI, Margot C, Cayeux I (2005) Cognitive modulation of olfactory processing. Neuron 46:671-679.
- De Dreu CK, Greer LL, Van Kleef GA, Shalvi S, Handgraaf MJ (2011) Oxytocin promotes human ethnocentrism. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108:1262-1266.
- de la Fuente-Fernandez R (2009) The placebo-reward hypothesis: dopamine and the placebo effect. Parkinsonism Relat Disord 15 Suppl 3:S72-74.
- Ditzen B, Neumann ID, Bodenmann G, von Dawans B, Turner RA, Ehlert U, Heinrichs M (2007) Effects of different kinds of couple interaction on cortisol and heart rate responses to stress in women. Psychoneuroendocrinology 32:565-574.
- Ditzen B, Schaer M, Gabriel B, Bodenmann G, Ehlert U, Heinrichs M (2009) Intranasal oxytocin increases positive communication and reduces cortisol levels during couple conflict. Biol Psychiatry 65:728-731.
- Dolen G, Darvishzadeh A, Huang KW, Malenka RC (2013) Social reward requires coordinated activity of nucleus accumbens oxytocin and serotonin. Nature 501:179-184.
- Domes G, Heinrichs M, Michel A, Berger C, Herpertz SC (2007) Oxytocin improves "mind-reading" in humans. Biol Psychiatry 61:731-733.
- Dum J, Herz A (1984) Endorphinergic modulation of neural reward systems indicated by behavioral changes. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 21:259-266.
- Dunbar RI (2010) The social role of touch in humans and primates: behavioural function and neurobiological mechanisms. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 34:260-268.
- Egerton A, Mehta MA, Montgomery AJ, Lappin JM, Howes OD, Reeves SJ, Cunningham VJ, Grasby PM (2009) The dopaminergic basis of human behaviors: A review of molecular imaging studies. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 33:1109-1132.
- Eickhoff SB, Paus T, Caspers S, Grosbras MH, Evans AC, Zilles K, Amunts K (2007) Assignment of functional activations to probabilistic cytoarchitectonic areas revisited. Neuroimage 36:511-521.
- Eippert F, Bingel U, Schoell ED, Yacubian J, Klinger R, Lorenz J, Buchel C (2009a) Activation of the opioidergic descending pain control system underlies placebo analgesia. Neuron 63:533-543.

- Eippert F, Finsterbusch J, Bingel U, Buchel C (2009b) Direct evidence for spinal cord involvement in placebo analgesia. Science 326:404.
- Ellenbogen MA, Linnen AM, Grumet R, Cardoso C, Joober R (2012) The acute effects of intranasal oxytocin on automatic and effortful attentional shifting to emotional faces. Psychophysiology 49:128-137
- Enck P, Benedetti F, Schedlowski M (2008) New insights into the placebo and nocebo responses. Neuron 59:195-206.
- Fairhurst MT, Loken L, Grossmann T (2014) Physiological and Behavioral Responses Reveal 9-Month-Old Infants' Sensitivity to Pleasant Touch. Psychol Sci.
- Feldman R (2012) Oxytocin and social affiliation in humans. Horm Behav 61:380-391.
- Fields H (2004) State-dependent opioid control of pain. Nat Rev Neurosci 5:565-575.
- Fields HL (2006) A motivation-decision model of Pain: the role of opioids. In: Proceedings of the 11th world congress on pain (Flor, H. et al., eds), pp 449-459 Seattle: IASP Press.
- Fields HL (2007) Understanding how opioids contribute to reward and analgesia. Region Anesth Pain M 32:242-246.
- Fields HL (2011) Mu Opioid Receptor Mediated Analgesia and Reward. In: The Opiate Receptors, vol. 23 (Pasternak, G. W., ed), pp 239-264 New York, NY: Humana Press.
- Fischer-Shofty M, Brune M, Ebert A, Shefet D, Levkovitz Y, Shamay-Tsoory SG (2013) Improving social perception in schizophrenia: The role of oxytocin. Schizophr Res.
- Fisher JD, Rytting M, Heslin R (1976) Hands touching hands: affective and evaluative effects of an interpersonal touch. Sociometry 39:416-421.
- Forsberg G, Wiesenfeld-Hallin Z, Eneroth P, Sodersten P (1987) Sexual behavior induces naloxone-reversible hypoalgesia in male rats. Neurosci Lett 81:151-154.
- Francis DD, Champagne FC, Meaney MJ (2000) Variations in maternal behaviour are associated with differences in oxytocin receptor levels in the rat. J Neuroendocrinol 12:1145-1148.
- Frijda N (2010) On the nature and function of pleasure. In: Pleasures of the brain (Kringelbach, M. L. and Berridge, K. C., eds), pp 99-112 Oxford, U.K.: Oxford University Press.
- Friston K, Kiebel S (2009) Predictive coding under the free-energy principle. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 364:1211-1221.
- Friston KJ, Buechel C, Fink GR, Morris J, Rolls E, Dolan RJ (1997) Psychophysiological and modulatory interactions in neuroimaging. Neuroimage 6:218-229.
- Gamer M, Buchel C (2012) Oxytocin specifically enhances valencedependent parasympathetic responses. Psychoneuroendocrinology 37:87-93.

- Gazzola V, Spezio ML, Etzel JA, Castelli F, Adolphs R, Keysers C (2012) Primary somatosensory cortex discriminates affective significance in social touch. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109:E1657-1666.
- Geuter S, Buchel C (2013) Facilitation of pain in the human spinal cord by nocebo treatment. J Neurosci 33:13784-13790.
- Gordon I, Vander Wyk BC, Bennett RH, Cordeaux C, Lucas MV, Eilbott JA, Zagoory-Sharon O, Leckman JF, Feldman R, Pelphrey KA (2013) Oxytocin enhances brain function in children with autism. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.
- Grabenhorst F, Rolls ET, Bilderbeck A (2008) How cognition modulates affective responses to taste and flavor: top-down influences on the orbitofrontal and pregenual cingulate cortices. Cereb Cortex 18:1549-1559.
- Green AL, Pereira EA, Aziz TZ (2010) Deep brain stimulation and pleasure. In: Pleasures of the Brain (Kringelbach, M. L. and Berridge, K. C., eds), pp 302-319 Oxford, U.K.: Oxford University Press.
- Greicius MD, Krasnow B, Reiss AL, Menon V (2003) Functional connectivity in the resting brain: a network analysis of the default mode hypothesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:253-258.
- Grewen KM, Girdler SS, Amico J, Light KC (2005) Effects of partner support on resting oxytocin, cortisol, norepinephrine, and blood pressure before and after warm partner contact. Psychosom Med 67:531-538.
- Guastella AJ, Einfeld SL, Gray KM, Rinehart NJ, Tonge BJ, Lambert TJ, Hickie IB (2010) Intranasal oxytocin improves emotion recognition for youth with autism spectrum disorders. Biol Psychiatry 67:692-694.
- Gusnard DA, Raichle ME, Raichle ME (2001) Searching for a baseline: functional imaging and the resting human brain. Nat Rev Neurosci 2:685-694.
- Heath RG (1972) Pleasure and brain activity in man. Deep and surface electroencephalograms during orgasm. J Nerv Ment Dis 154:3-18.
- Heinrichs M, Baumgartner T, Kirschbaum C, Ehlert U (2003) Social support and oxytocin interact to suppress cortisol and subjective responses to psychosocial stress. Biol Psychiatry 54:1389-1398.
- Heinrichs M, Meinlschmidt G, Neumann I, Wagner S, Kirschbaum C, Ehlert U, Hellhammer DH (2001) Effects of suckling on hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis responses to psychosocial stress in postpartum lactating women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 86:4798-4804.
- Hertenstein MJ, Campos JJ (2001) Emotion Regulation Via Maternal Touch. Infancy 2:549-566.
- Hertenstein MJ, Holmes R, McCullough M, Keltner D (2009) The communication of emotion via touch. Emotion 9:566-573.
- Hertenstein MJ, Keltner D, App B, Bulleit BA, Jaskolka AR (2006a) Touch communicates distinct emotions. Emotion 6:528-533.

- Hertenstein MJ, Verkamp JM, Kerestes AM, Holmes RM (2006b) The communicative functions of touch in humans, nonhuman primates, and rats: a review and synthesis of the empirical research. Genet Soc Gen Psychol Monogr 132:5-94.
- Heslin R, Boss D (1980) Nonverbal Intimacy in Airport Arrival and Departure. Pers Soc Psychol Bull 6:248-252.
- Hess EH, Polt JM (1960) Pupil size as related to interest value of visual stimuli. Science 132:349-350.
- Hollander E, Bartz J, Chaplin W, Phillips A, Sumner J, Soorya L, Anagnostou E, Wasserman S (2007) Oxytocin increases retention of social cognition in autism. Biol Psychiatry 61:498-503.
- Hollander E, Novotny S, Hanratty M, Yaffe R, DeCaria CM, Aronowitz BR, Mosovich S (2003) Oxytocin infusion reduces repetitive behaviors in adults with autistic and Asperger's disorders. Neuropsychopharmacology 28:193-198.
- Holt-Lunstad J, Birmingham WA, Light KC (2008) Influence of a "warm touch" support enhancement intervention among married couples on ambulatory blood pressure, oxytocin, alpha amylase, and cortisol. Psychosom Med 70:976-985.
- Hornik J (1992) Tactile Stimulation and Consumer Response. J Consum Res 19:449-458.
- Iannetti GD, Salomons TV, Moayedi M, Mouraux A, Davis KD (2013) Beyond metaphor: contrasting mechanisms of social and physical pain. Trends Cogn Sci 17:371-378.
- Insel TR, O'Brien DJ, Leckman JF (1999) Oxytocin, vasopressin, and autism: is there a connection? Biol Psychiatry 45:145-157.
- Insel TR, Young LJ (2001) The neurobiology of attachment. Nat Rev Neurosci 2:129-136.
- Jacob S, Brune CW, Carter CS, Leventhal BL, Lord C, Cook EH, Jr. (2007) Association of the oxytocin receptor gene (OXTR) in Caucasian children and adolescents with autism. Neurosci Lett 417:6-9.
- Jenkinson M, Bannister P, Brady M, Smith S (2002) Improved optimization for the robust and accurate linear registration and motion correction of brain images. Neuroimage 17:825-841.
- Jenkinson M, Smith S (2001) A global optimisation method for robust affine registration of brain images. Med Image Anal 5:143-156.
- Jonas WB (2011) Reframing placebo in research and practice. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 366:1896-1904.
- Joule RV, Gueguen N (2007) Touch, compliance, and awareness of tactile contact. Percept Mot Skills 104:581-588.
- Kahneman D, Beatty J (1966) Pupil diameter and load on memory. Science 154:1583-1585.
- Kaptchuk TJ, Kelley JM, Conboy LA, Davis RB, Kerr CE, Jacobson EE, Kirsch I, Schyner RN, Nam BH, Nguyen LT, Park M, Rivers AL, McManus C, Kokkotou E, Drossman DA, Goldman P, Lembo AJ

- (2008) Components of placebo effect: randomised controlled trial in patients with irritable bowel syndrome. BMJ 336:999-1003.
- Kelly RE, Jr., Alexopoulos GS, Wang Z, Gunning FM, Murphy CF, Morimoto SS, Kanellopoulos D, Jia Z, Lim KO, Hoptman MJ (2010) Visual inspection of independent components: defining a procedure for artifact removal from fMRI data. J Neurosci Methods 189:233-245.
- Kemp AH, Guastella AJ (2010) Oxytocin: prosocial behavior, social salience, or approach-related behavior? Biol Psychiatry 67:e33-34; author reply e35.
- Kemp AH, Guastella AJ (2011) The Role of Oxytocin in Human Affect: A Novel Hypothesis. Current Directions in Psychological Science 20:222-231.
- Kemp AH, Quintana DS, Kuhnert RL, Griffiths K, Hickie IB, Guastella AJ (2012) Oxytocin increases heart rate variability in humans at rest: implications for social approach-related motivation and capacity for social engagement. PLoS One 7:e44014.
- Kendrick KM, Keverne EB, Baldwin BA, Sharman DF (1986) Cerebrospinal fluid levels of acetylcholinesterase, monoamines and oxytocin during labour, parturition, vaginocervical stimulation, lamb separation and suckling in sheep. Neuroendocrinology 44:149-156.
- Kendrick KM, Keverne EB, Hinton MR, Goode JA (1991) Cerebrospinal fluid and plasma concentrations of oxytocin and vasopressin during parturition and vaginocervical stimulation in the sheep. Brain Res Bull 26:803-807.
- Kenntner-Mabiala R, Pauli P (2005) Affective modulation of brain potentials to painful and nonpainful stimuli. Psychophysiology 42:559-567.
- Kessner S, Sprenger C, Wrobel N, Wiech K, Bingel U (2013) Effect of oxytocin on placebo analgesia: a randomized study. JAMA 310:1733-1735.
- Kleinke CL (1977) Complience to requests made by gazing and touching experimenters in field settings. J Exp Soc Psych 13:218-223.
- Knapp ML, Hall JA (1997) Nonverbal communication in human interaction (4th ed.). Fort Worth, TX: Harcourt Brace College.
- Knudsen L, Petersen GL, Nørskov KN, Vase L, Finnerup N, Jensen TS, Svensson P (2011) Review of neuroimaging studies related to pain modulation. Scandinavian Journal of Pain 2:108-120.
- Koepp MJ, Gunn RN, Lawrence AD, Cunningham VJ, Dagher A, Jones T, Brooks DJ, Bench CJ, Grasby PM (1998) Evidence for striatal dopamine release during a video game. Nature 393:266-268.
- Kosfeld M, Heinrichs M, Zak PJ, Fischbacher U, Fehr E (2005) Oxytocin increases trust in humans. Nature 435:673-676.
- Kovacs GL, Sarnyai Z, Szabo G (1998) Oxytocin and addiction: a review. Psychoneuroendocrinology 23:945-962.

- Kringelbach ML (2005) The human orbitofrontal cortex: linking reward to hedonic experience. Nat Rev Neurosci 6:691-702.
- Kringelbach ML (2010) The hedonic brain: A functional neuroanatomy of human pleasure. In: Pleasures of the brain (Kringelbach, M. L. and Berridge, K. C., eds), pp 202-221 Oxford, U.K.: Oxford University Press
- Kringelbach ML, Berridge KC (2010) The functional neuroanatomy of pleasure and happiness. Discov Med 9:579-587.
- Kringelbach ML, Berridge KC (2012) The joyful mind. Sci Am 307:40-45.
- Kringelbach ML, O'Doherty J, Rolls ET, Andrews C (2003) Activation of the human orbitofrontal cortex to a liquid food stimulus is correlated with its subjective pleasantness. Cereb Cortex 13:1064-1071.
- Kulkarni B, Bentley DE, Elliott R, Youell P, Watson A, Derbyshire SW, Frackowiak RS, Friston KJ, Jones AK (2005) Attention to pain localization and unpleasantness discriminates the functions of the medial and lateral pain systems. Eur J Neurosci 21:3133-3142.
- Laeng B, Profeti I, Saether L, Adolfsdottir S, Lundervold AJ, Vangberg T, Overvoll M, Johnsen SH, Waterloo K (2010) Invisible expressions evoke core impressions. Emotion 10:573-586.
- Laeng B, Sirois S, Gredeback G (2012) Pupillometry: A Window to the Preconscious? Perspect Psychol Sci 7:18-27.
- LeDoux J (2012) Rethinking the emotional brain. Neuron 73:653-676.
- Leknes S, Brooks JC, Wiech K, Tracey I (2008) Pain relief as an opponent process: a psychophysical investigation. Eur J Neurosci 28:794-801.
- Leknes S, Lee M, Berna C, Andersson J, Tracey I (2011) Relief as a reward: hedonic and neural responses to safety from pain. PLoS One 6:e17870.
- Leknes S, Tracey I (2008) A common neurobiology for pain and pleasure. Nat Rev Neurosci 9:314-320.
- Levine JD, Gordon NC, Fields HL (1978) The mechanism of placebo analgesia. Lancet 2:654-657.
- Liang M, Mouraux A, Hu L, Iannetti GD (2013) Primary sensory cortices contain distinguishable spatial patterns of activity for each sense. Nat Commun 4:1979.
- Lidstone SC, de la Fuente-Fernandez R, Stoessl AJ (2005) The placebo response as a reward mechanism. Seminars in pain medicine 3:37-42.
- Light KC, Grewen KM, Amico JA (2005) More frequent partner hugs and higher oxytocin levels are linked to lower blood pressure and heart rate in premenopausal women. Biol Psychol 69:5-21.
- Light KC, Smith TE, Johns JM, Brownley KA, Hofheimer JA, Amico JA (2000) Oxytocin responsivity in mothers of infants: a preliminary study of relationships with blood pressure during laboratory stress and normal ambulatory activity. Health Psychol 19:560-567.

- Lindquist KA, Wager TD, Kober H, Bliss-Moreau E, Barrett LF (2012) The brain basis of emotion: a meta-analytic review. Behav Brain Sci 35:121-143.
- Linnman C, Moulton EA, Barmettler G, Becerra L, Borsook D (2011) Neuroimaging of the periaqueductal gray: State of the field. Neuroimage 60:505-522.
- Löken LS, Wessberg J, Morrison I, McGlone F, Olausson H (2009) Coding of pleasant touch by unmyelinated afferents in humans. Nat Neurosci 12:547-548.
- Løseth GE, Ellingsen DM, Leknes S (In press) The neurochemistry of affective touch. Front Behav Neurosci.
- Lu HC, Hsieh JC, Lu CL, Niddam DM, Wu YT, Yeh TC, Cheng CM, Chang FY, Lee SD (2010) Neuronal correlates in the modulation of placebo analgesia in experimentally-induced esophageal pain: a 3T-fMRI study. Pain 148:75-83.
- Lund I, Ge Y, Yu LC, Uvnäs-Moberg K, Wang J, Yu C, Kurosawa M, Agren G, Rosen A, Lekman M, Lundeberg T (2002) Repeated massage-like stimulation induces long-term effects on nociception: contribution of oxytocinergic mechanisms. Eur J Neurosci 16:330-338.
- Lundqvist D, Flykt A, Ohman A (1998) Karolinska directed emotional faces [database of standardized facial images]. Karolinska Hospital: Department of Clinical Neuroscience, Psychology Section, Stockholm, Sweden, S-171 76.
- Lynoe N, Wessel M, Olsson D, Alexanderson K, Helgesson G (2011) Respectful encounters and return to work: empirical study of long-term sick-listed patients' experiences of Swedish healthcare. BMJ Open 1:e000246.
- Macdonald K, Feifel D (2014) Oxytocins role in anxiety: A critical appraisal. Brain Res.
- MacDonald K, MacDonald TM, Brune M, Lamb K, Wilson MP, Golshan S, Feifel D (2013) Oxytocin and psychotherapy: a pilot study of its physiological, behavioral and subjective effects in males with depression. Psychoneuroendocrinology 38:2831-2843.
- Mah BL, Bakermans-Kranenburg MJ, Van Ijzendoorn MH, Smith R (2014)
  Oxytocin Promotes Protective Behavior in Depressed Mothers: A
  Pilot Study with the Enthusiastic Stranger Paradigm. Depress
  Anxiety.
- Matre D, Casey KL, Knardahl S (2006) Placebo-induced changes in spinal cord pain processing. J Neurosci 26:559-563.
- McAlonan K, Cavanaugh J, Wurtz RH (2008) Guarding the gateway to cortex with attention in visual thalamus. Nature 456:391-394.
- McEwen BB (2004) Brain-fluid barriers: relevance for theoretical controversies regarding vasopressin and oxytocin memory research. Adv Pharmacol 50:531-592, 655-708.

- McGlone F, Wessberg J, Olausson H (in press) Discriminative and affective touch: sensing and feeling. Neuron.
- McKay KM, Imel ZE, Wampold BE (2006) Psychiatrist effects in the psychopharmacological treatment of depression. J Affect Disord 92:287-290.
- Mens WB, Witter A, van Wimersma Greidanus TB (1983) Penetration of neurohypophyseal hormones from plasma into cerebrospinal fluid (CSF): half-times of disappearance of these neuropeptides from CSF. Brain Res 262:143-149.
- Merksey H, Bogduk N (1994) Classification of chronic pain. Seattle: IASP Press.
- Millan MJ (2002) Descending control of pain. Prog Neurobiol 66:355-474.
- Miller G (2013) Neuroscience. The promise and perils of oxytocin. Science 339:267-269.
- Moerman DE, Jonas WB (2002) Deconstructing the placebo effect and finding the meaning response. Ann Intern Med 136:471-476.
- Morhenn V, Beavin LE, Zak PJ (2012) Massage increases oxytocin and reduces adrenocorticotropin hormone in humans. Altern Ther Health Med 18:11-18.
- Morrison I, Bjornsdotter M, Olausson H (2011) Vicarious responses to social touch in posterior insular cortex are tuned to pleasant caressing speeds. J Neurosci 31:9554-9562.
- Morrison I, Loken LS, Olausson H (2010) The skin as a social organ. Exp Brain Res 204:305-314.
- Mouraux A, Diukova A, Lee MC, Wise RG, Iannetti GD (2011) A multisensory investigation of the functional significance of the "pain matrix". Neuroimage 54:2237-2249.
- Muir DW (2002) Adult communications with infants through touch: The forgotten sense. Hum Dev 45:95-99.
- Naidich TP, Duvernoy HM, Delman BN, Sorensen AG, Kollias SS, Haacke EM (2009) Duvernoy's Atlas of the Human Brain Stem and Cerebellum. New York, NY: Springer.
- Neubert MJ, Kincaid W, Heinricher MM (2004) Nociceptive facilitating neurons in the rostral ventromedial medulla. Pain 110:158-165.
- Neuhoff JG (1998) Perceptual bias for rising tones. Nature 395:123-124.
- Neumann ID, Maloumby R, Beiderbeck DI, Lukas M, Landgraf R (2013) Increased brain and plasma oxytocin after nasal and peripheral administration in rats and mice. Psychoneuroendocrinology.
- Nitschke JB, Dixon GE, Sarinopoulos I, Short SJ, Cohen JD, Smith EE, Kosslyn SM, Rose RM, Davidson RJ (2006) Altering expectancy dampens neural response to aversive taste in primary taste cortex. Nat Neurosci 9:435-442.
- Nordin M (1990) Low-threshold mechanoreceptive and nociceptive units with unmyelinated (C) fibres in the human supraorbital nerve. J Physiol 426:229-240.

- Nunez A, Malmierca E (2007) Corticofugal modulation of sensory information. Adv Anat Embryol Cell Biol 187:1 p following table of contents, 1-74.
- O'Doherty J, Rolls ET, Francis S, Bowtell R, McGlone F, Kobal G, Renner B, Ahne G (2000) Sensory-specific satiety-related olfactory activation of the human orbitofrontal cortex. Neuroreport 11:893-897.
- O'Reilly JX, Jbabdi S, Rushworth MF, Behrens TE (2013) Brain systems for probabilistic and dynamic prediction: computational specificity and integration. PLoS Biol 11:e1001662.
- O'Reilly JX, Woolrich MW, Behrens TE, Smith SM, Johansen-Berg H (2012) Tools of the trade: psychophysiological interactions and functional connectivity. Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci 7:604-609.
- Odendaal JS, Meintjes RA (2003) Neurophysiological correlates of affiliative behaviour between humans and dogs. Vet J 165:296-301.
- Olausson H, Cole J, Rylander K, McGlone F, Lamarre Y, Wallin BG, Kramer H, Wessberg J, Elam M, Bushnell MC, Vallbo A (2008) Functional role of unmyelinated tactile afferents in human hairy skin: sympathetic response and perceptual localization. Exp Brain Res 184:135-140.
- Olausson H, Lamarre Y, Backlund H, Morin C, Wallin BG, Starck G, Ekholm S, Strigo I, Worsley K, Vallbo AB, Bushnell MC (2002) Unmyelinated tactile afferents signal touch and project to insular cortex. Nat Neurosci 5:900-904.
- Olausson H, Wessberg J, Morrison I, McGlone F, Vallbo A (2010) The neurophysiology of unmyelinated tactile afferents. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 34:185-191.
- Olds J (1956) Pleasure Centers in the Brain. Sci Am 195:105-&.
- Olds J, Milner P (1954) Positive reinforcement produced by electrical stimulation of septal area and other regions of rat brain. J Comp Physiol Psychol 47:419-427.
- Olff M, Frijling JL, Kubzansky LD, Bradley B, Ellenbogen MA, Cardoso C, Bartz JA, Yee JR, van Zuiden M (2013) The role of oxytocin in social bonding, stress regulation and mental health: An update on the moderating effects of context and interindividual differences. Psychoneuroendocrinology 38:1883-1894.
- Pecina S, Berridge KC (2005) Hedonic hot spot in nucleus accumbens shell: where do mu-opioids cause increased hedonic impact of sweetness? J Neurosci 25:11777-11786.
- Pedersen CA, Caldwell JD, Drago F, Noonan LR, Peterson G, Hood LE, Prange AJ, Jr. (1988) Grooming behavioral effects of oxytocin. Pharmacology, ontogeny, and comparisons with other nonapeptides. Ann N Y Acad Sci 525:245-256.

- Petersson M, Alster P, Lundeberg T, Uvnäs-Moberg K (1996) Oxytocin increases nociceptive thresholds in a long-term perspective in female and male rats. Neurosci Lett 212:87-90.
- Petersson M, Uvnas-Moberg K, Erhardt S, Engberg G (1998) Oxytocin increases locus coeruleus alpha 2-adrenoreceptor responsiveness in rats. Neurosci Lett 255:115-118.
- Petrovic P, Dietrich T, Fransson P, Andersson J, Carlsson K, Ingvar M (2005) Placebo in emotional processing--induced expectations of anxiety relief activate a generalized modulatory network. Neuron 46:957-969.
- Plassmann H, O'Doherty J, Shiv B, Rangel A (2008) Marketing actions can modulate neural representations of experienced pleasantness. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:1050-1054.
- Porges SW (2007) The polyvagal perspective. Biol Psychol 74:116-143.
- Porges SW, Doussard-Roosevelt JA, Maiti AK (1994) Vagal tone and the physiological regulation of emotion. Monogr Soc Res Child Dev 59:167-186.
- Portenoy RK, Jarden JO, Sidtis JJ, Lipton RB, Foley KM, Rottenberg DA (1986) Compulsive thalamic self-stimulation: a case with metabolic, electrophysiologic and behavioral correlates. Pain 27:277-290.
- Prehn K, Kazzer P, Lischke A, Heinrichs M, Herpertz SC, Domes G (2013) Effects of intranasal oxytocin on pupil dilation indicate increased salience of socioaffective stimuli. Psychophysiology 50:528-537.
- Preti A, Melis M, Siddi S, Vellante M, Doneddu G, Fadda R (2014) Oxytocin and autism: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol 24:54-68.
- Quintana DS, Guastella AJ, Outhred T, Hickie IB, Kemp AH (2012) Heart rate variability is associated with emotion recognition: Direct evidence for a relationship between the autonomic nervous system and social cognition. International Journal of Psychophysiology 86:168-172.
- Quintana DS, Kemp AH, Alvares GA, Guastella AJ (2013) A role for autonomic cardiac control in the effects of oxytocin on social behavior and psychiatric illness. Front Neurosci 7:48.
- Rainville P, Duncan GH, Price DD, Carrier B, Bushnell MC (1997) Pain affect encoded in human anterior cingulate but not somatosensory cortex. Science 277:968-971.
- Reboucas EC, Segato EN, Kishi R, Freitas RL, Savoldi M, Morato S, Coimbra NC (2005) Effect of the blockade of mu1-opioid and 5HT2A-serotonergic/alpha1-noradrenergic receptors on sweet-substance-induced analgesia. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 179:349-355.
- Richard JM, Castro DC, Difeliceantonio AG, Robinson MJ, Berridge KC (2013) Mapping brain circuits of reward and motivation: in the footsteps of Ann Kelley. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 37:1919-1931.

- Rodrigues SM, Saslow LR, Garcia N, John OP, Keltner D (2009) Oxytocin receptor genetic variation relates to empathy and stress reactivity in humans. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:21437-21441.
- Rolls ET, O'Doherty J, Kringelbach ML, Francis S, Bowtell R, McGlone F (2003) Representations of pleasant and painful touch in the human orbitofrontal and cingulate cortices. Cereb Cortex 13:308-317.
- Rømer Thomsen K, Whybrow PC, Kringelbach ML (in press)
  Reconceptualizing anhedonia: novel perspectives on balancing the pleasure networks in the human brain.
- Roy M, Peretz I, Rainville P (2008) Emotional valence contributes to music-induced analgesia. Pain 134:140-147.
- Roy M, Shohamy D, Wager TD (2012) Ventromedial prefrontal-subcortical systems and the generation of affective meaning. Trends Cogn Sci 16:147-156.
- Salamone JD, Correa M (2012) The mysterious motivational functions of mesolimbic dopamine. Neuron 76:470-485.
- Salimpoor VN, Benovoy M, Larcher K, Dagher A, Zatorre RJ (2011) Anatomically distinct dopamine release during anticipation and experience of peak emotion to music. Nat Neurosci 14:257-262.
- Scheele D, Kendrick KM, Khouri C, Kretzer E, Schlapfer TE, Stoffel-Wagner B, Gunturkun O, Maier W, Hurlemann R (2014) An Oxytocin-Induced Facilitation of Neural and Emotional Responses to Social Touch Correlates Inversely with Autism Traits. Neuropsychopharmacology.
- Schultz W (2002) Getting formal with dopamine and reward. Neuron 36:241-263.
- Schwarz N, Clore GL (1983) Mood, Misattribution, and Judgments of Well-Being Informative and Directive Functions of Affective States. J Pers Soc Psychol 45:513-523.
- Schwarz N, Clore GL (2007) Feelings and phenomenal experiences. In: Social psychology: Handbook of basic principles (Kruglanski, A. W. and Higgins, E. T., eds), pp 385-407 New York, NY: The Guilford Press.
- Schweinhardt P, Seminowicz DA, Jaeger E, Duncan GH, Bushnell MC (2009) The anatomy of the mesolimbic reward system: a link between personality and the placebo analgesic response. J Neurosci 29:4882-4887.
- Scott DJ, Stohler CS, Egnatuk CM, Wang H, Koeppe RA, Zubieta JK (2007) Individual differences in reward responding explain placebo-induced expectations and effects. Neuron 55:325-336.
- Scott DJ, Stohler CS, Egnatuk CM, Wang H, Koeppe RA, Zubieta JK (2008) Placebo and nocebo effects are defined by opposite opioid and dopaminergic responses. Arch Gen Psychiatry 65:220-231.
- Shalvi S, De Dreu CK (2014) Oxytocin promotes group-serving dishonesty. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111:5503-5507.

- Shamay-Tsoory SG (2010) One Hormonal System for Love and Envy: A Reply to Tops. Biol Psychiatry 67:e7.
- Shamay-Tsoory SG, Fischer M, Dvash J, Harari H, Perach-Bloom N, Levkovitz Y (2009) Intranasal administration of oxytocin increases envy and schadenfreude (gloating). Biol Psychiatry 66:864-870.
- Shewmon DA, Holmes GL, Byrne PA (1999) Consciousness in congenitally decorticate children: developmental vegetative state as self-fulfilling prophecy. Dev Med Child Neurol 41:364-374.
- Shizgal P, Fulton S, Woodside B (2001) Brain reward circuitry and the regulation of energy balance. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 25 Suppl 5:S17-21.
- Small DM, Zatorre RJ, Dagher A, Evans AC, Jones-Gotman M (2001) Changes in brain activity related to eating chocolate: from pleasure to aversion. Brain 124:1720-1733.
- Smith KS (2010) Hedonic hotspots: Generating sensory pleasure in the brain. In: Pleasures of the Brain (Kringelbach, M. L. and Berridge, K. C., eds), pp 27-49 Oxford, U.K.: Oxford University Press.
- Smith SM (2002) Fast robust automated brain extraction. Hum Brain Mapp 17:143-155.
- Stallen M, De Dreu CK, Shalvi S, Smidts A, Sanfey AG (2012) The herding hormone: oxytocin stimulates in-group conformity. Psychol Sci 23:1288-1292.
- Starr CJ, Sawaki L, Wittenberg GF, Burdette JH, Oshiro Y, Quevedo AS, Coghill RC (2009) Roles of the insular cortex in the modulation of pain: insights from brain lesions. J Neurosci 29:2684-2694.
- Striepens N, Kendrick KM, Hanking V, Landgraf R, Wullner U, Maier W, Hurlemann R (2013) Elevated cerebrospinal fluid and blood concentrations of oxytocin following its intranasal administration in humans. Sci Rep 3:3440.
- Tansey KE, Brookes KJ, Hill MJ, Cochrane LE, Gill M, Skuse D, Correia C, Vicente A, Kent L, Gallagher L, Anney RJ (2010) Oxytocin receptor (OXTR) does not play a major role in the aetiology of autism: genetic and molecular studies. Neurosci Lett 474:163-167.
- Tracey I, Mantyh PW (2007) The cerebral signature for pain perception and its modulation. Neuron 55:377-391.
- Turner RA, Altemus M, Enos T, Cooper B, McGuinness T (1999)
  Preliminary research on plasma oxytocin in normal cycling women:
  investigating emotion and interpersonal distress. Psychiatry 62:97113.
- Tversky A, Kahneman D (1974) Judgment under Uncertainty: Heuristics and Biases. Science 185:1124-1131.
- Urban MO, Gebhart GF (1999) Supraspinal contributions to hyperalgesia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96:7687-7692.
- Uvnäs-Moberg K (1997) Physiological and endocrine effects of social contact. Ann N Y Acad Sci 807:146-163.

- Uvnäs-Moberg K (1998) Oxytocin may mediate the benefits of positive social interaction and emotions. Psychoneuroendocrinology 23:819-835.
- Uvnas-Moberg K, Bruzelius G, Alster P, Lundeberg T (1993) The antinociceptive effect of non-noxious sensory stimulation is mediated partly through oxytocinergic mechanisms. Acta Physiol Scand 149:199-204.
- Valenstein ES (1986) Great and desperate cures: The rise and decline of psychosurgery and other radical treatments for mental illness: Basic Books.
- Valenstein ES, Cox VC, Kakolewski JW (1970) Reexamination of the role of the hypothalamus in motivation. Psychol Rev 77:16-31.
- Vallbo A, Olausson H, Wessberg J, Norrsell U (1993) A system of unmyelinated afferents for innocuous mechanoreception in the human skin. Brain Res 628:301-304.
- Vallbo AB, Olausson H, Wessberg J (1999) Unmyelinated afferents constitute a second system coding tactile stimuli of the human hairy skin. J Neurophysiol 81:2753-2763.
- Van IJzendoorn MH, Bakermans-Kranenburg MJ (2012) A sniff of trust: meta-analysis of the effects of intranasal oxytocin administration on face recognition, trust to in-group, and trust to out-group. Psychoneuroendocrinology 37:438-443.
- Villemure C, Slotnick BM, Bushnell MC (2003) Effects of odors on pain perception: deciphering the roles of emotion and attention. Pain 106:101-108.
- Volkow ND, Wang GJ, Fowler JS, Logan J, Gatley SJ, Hitzemann R, Chen AD, Dewey SL, Pappas N (1997) Decreased striatal dopaminergic responsiveness in detoxified cocaine-dependent subjects. Nature 386:830-833.
- Wager TD, Atlas LY, Leotti LA, Rilling JK (2011) Predicting individual differences in placebo analgesia: contributions of brain activity during anticipation and pain experience. J Neurosci 31:439-452.
- Wager TD, Atlas LY, Lindquist MA, Roy M, Woo CW, Kross E (2013) An fMRI-based neurologic signature of physical pain. N Engl J Med 368:1388-1397.
- Wager TD, Rilling JK, Smith EE, Sokolik A, Casey KL, Davidson RJ, Kosslyn SM, Rose RM, Cohen JD (2004) Placebo-induced changes in FMRI in the anticipation and experience of pain. Science 303:1162-1167.
- Wager TD, Scott DJ, Zubieta JK (2007) Placebo effects on human mu-opioid activity during pain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104:11056-11061.
- Wall PD (1967) The laminar organization of dorsal horn and effects of descending impulses. J Physiol 188:403-423.

- Wessberg J, Olausson H, Fernstrom KW, Vallbo AB (2003) Receptive field properties of unmyelinated tactile afferents in the human skin. J Neurophysiol 89:1567-1575.
- Wikstrom S, Gunnarsson T, Nordin C (2003) Tactile stimulus and neurohormonal response: a pilot study. Int J Neurosci 113:787-793.
- Winkielman P, Berridge KC, Wilbarger JL (2005) Unconscious affective reactions to masked happy versus angry faces influence consumption behavior and judgments of value. Pers Soc Psychol Bull 31:121-135.
- Woldorff MG, Gallen CC, Hampson SA, Hillyard SA, Pantev C, Sobel D, Bloom FE (1993) Modulation of early sensory processing in human auditory cortex during auditory selective attention. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90:8722-8726.
- Woods AT, Lloyd DM, Kuenzel J, Poliakoff E, Dijksterhuis GB, Thomas A (2011) Expected taste intensity affects response to sweet drinks in primary taste cortex. Neuroreport 22:365-369.
- Woolf CJ (2011) Central sensitization: implications for the diagnosis and treatment of pain. Pain 152:S2-15.
- Woolrich MW, Ripley BD, Brady M, Smith SM (2001) Temporal autocorrelation in univariate linear modeling of FMRI data. Neuroimage 14:1370-1386.
- Worsley KJ (2001) Statistical Analysis of Activation Images. In: Functional MRI: An Introduction to Methods (Jezzard, P. et al., eds): OUP.
- Wu S, Jia M, Ruan Y, Liu J, Guo Y, Shuang M, Gong X, Zhang Y, Yang X, Zhang D (2005) Positive association of the oxytocin receptor gene (OXTR) with autism in the Chinese Han population. Biol Psychiatry 58:74-77.
- Yan Y, Wang YL, Su Z, Zhang Y, Guo SX, Liu AJ, Wang CH, Sun FJ, Yang J (2014) Effect of oxytocin on the behavioral activity in the behavioral despair depression rat model. Neuropeptides 48:83-89.
- Yang J (1994) Intrathecal administration of oxytocin induces analgesia in low back pain involving the endogenous opiate peptide system. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 19:867-871.
- Zak PJ, Stanton AA, Ahmadi S (2007) Oxytocin increases generosity in humans. PLoS One 2:e1128.
- Zubieta JK, Bueller JA, Jackson LR, Scott DJ, Xu Y, Koeppe RA, Nichols TE, Stohler CS (2005) Placebo effects mediated by endogenous opioid activity on mu-opioid receptors. J Neurosci 25:7754-7762.